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CHAPTER THREE
BUSINESS OVERVIEW: A SOLUTIONS COMPANY
oskatchewan Wheat Peol Inc’s pipeline is more than a business model; it is the path from producer to
destinotion customers.
At each stage, our goal is to develop innovative solutions and generate value for our customers threugh our three care
segments - Grain Handling and Marketing, Agri-products, and Agri-foad Processing.
The Pool's earnings parallel the traditional crap cycle. Whils farmers are beginning their harvest in August, the Poal is
beginning the first quarter of its fiscal year. The most profitable quarter for the Pool is the faurth guarter, which is the
May te July period when farmers are purchasing their crop inputs and selling their gruin to maoke room for the
upcoming fall harvest.
The Pool's working capite! requirements are highly seasonal and can vary significantly depending on:
< the timing of preducar deliveries and pricing of grain;
< the CWB export program, which impacts the timing of shipments;
< gruin prices, which determine the amaunt of working capital required to purchase
grain inventories from farmers;
+ crop input costs, such os fertilizer prices, which can influence when the Poof purthases products
and the value of agri-products inventories on hand;
= farmer pre-payments and deferred cash tickets; and
“r supplier payment terms.
The follawing illustration depicts how the Pool interacts with its customers throughout the crop cycle.
Securing Taking
the Praducts Stock
August November
September December
October January While farmers are
.- beginning their harvest
Investing In X .
the Land Planning in Augnst, the Pool s
May Februaty beginning the first
Tune March quarter of its fiscal year.
July April ‘

In the pages that fellow, the agri-products sales and gratn volume percantages by quarter are bused on averages for fiscal 2094 and 2005,
These percentages can vary dependling an seasanal demands, the timing of deliveries ond shipments, and other factors,

15
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Q1: Securing the Products

i

farmets provide malt barley samples to the Pool's
Quality Assurance Lab as part of the annual
malt barley selection process.

The Pool sells starage units to support customers'
on-farm requirements each year.

o
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Pool producers apply anhydrous am

17

monia fertilizer (NH3) in the fall
to address sail nutrient levels in preparation for spring seeding.
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CHAPTER THREE
BUSINESS OVERVIEW: Q2

1€ FARMER'S CROP CYCLE ..

NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY
Apply fertilizer (NH3) Pay farm supply account Pay farm supply accaunt

Sumple grading Pre-pay spring agri-products Deliver grain

Pay farm supply account Deliver grain Cosh deferred cheques
Pre-pay spring dgri-products

Deliver grain

NOVEMBER DECEMBER ‘ JANUARY

AGRI-PRODUCTS Ont awernge, the Peol gﬁn:mlu 15% of its agri-products valer in Q2
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02: Taking Stock

Grain is delivered to Poal and AgPro facilities throughout the fiscal year,
where it is processed and loaded anto multi-car unit trains,
destined for domestic and internctional customers.

. DECEMBER .

After commodities are cleaned, dried and blended at a Pool facility on the
Prairies, products are shipped to port terminals, primarify by rail,
where they are exported to destinations around the world.

Aty

Pool commadity merchandizars work closely with market centre managers and destination
custorners to ensure tha right product is in position 1o meet the compuany's sales commitments.

19
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CHAPTER THREE

HE FARMER’S.CROP-CY(

BUSINESS OVERVIEW: @3

MARCH

FEBRUARY

APRIL

Plan crop mix/input needs Pick up pre-paid product
Deliver grain Purchase seed, fertilizer, CPP
Sign production contracts Deliver grain

Sign production controcts

Pick up pre-paid praduct
Purchase seed, fertilizer, CPP
Perform pre-seeding field worl
Deliver grain

Sign production contracts

HE POOL'S BUSINESS,CYCLE

FEBRUARY MARCH

APRIL

AGRI-PRODUCTS On aoerdge, the Pool generates 13% of 165 agri-products sales
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shipments, 27% of Vancouver exports and 12% of Thunder Bay exports eccur in Q3
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0 3: Planning

The Pool's Verne Moen, Certified Crop Advisor, discusses
crop production aptions and the grain and agri-products
bundling opportunities available at Harvest Valley,

After cansulting with the Pool’s agronomic specialists to finaliza
seeding plans, producers pre-purchase their crop inputs in
preparation for the spring growing season.

The Pool's agri-products network includes fertilizer biending facilities where producers can purchase granular
fertilizer that is blended to specification an-site in response to the farmer’s soil type and moisture levels.
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CHAPTER THREE
BUSINESS OVERVIEW: 04

MAY JUNE JuLy

hPlunting Camplete planting Apply herbirides, insecticides and
Adjust crap mix if required Apply fertilizer fungicides
Purchose fertilizer, CPP Apply herbicides Consider on-farm storage
: requirements
Apply fertilizer Spray crops
Deliver grain Spray crops
. Deliver grain

HE POOL'S BUSINESS CYCLE -

MmAY JUNE Juty
AGRI-PROOUCIS On aw-/-age. the Pocl genterates up to 61% of its agri=praducts safes in Q4
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GRAIM HANDLING AND MARKETING Orx average, approximately 27% of annual grain deliveries, 29% afgram

shipments, 26% r:flamou'ucr sxports and 30% of Thunder Bay exports occur in Q4
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Q4: lnvesting in the Land

tyndon Olson is ar SP Banner seed grower and an important partner to the Poal,
The Pool warks with growers throughout Western Canado who provide the seed that
is sold te prairie producers through the spring selling seasen.

Weather conditions throughout the growing season drive demand for crop protection products.
Rain promotes weed development and dry conditians promote insect populations fike grasshoppers.
The Pool selts a wide variety of herbicides, insecticides and fungicides to help farmers maximize their yields.

i

July is typically a strong month for grain deliveries as farmers sell and move their old crop off
the farm, to make room for the new crop that is harvested in the August to October period.
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CHAPTER THREE

AGRI-PRODUGTS SALES

The Poal's role in agri-products is to provide producers with the customer solutions they raquire to grow the best
quaiity, highest yielding crops. Our front-line stoff works clongside our farm customers, helping them plan their year
from start to finish, Specialized marketing information and agronemic advice are g part of what we do through our
experienced sales force and supportive team of professional agronomists and certified crop advisors. In addition, g
key contributor to the Poal's agri-products business is Western Co-operative Fertilizers Limited, a wholesaler and
manufacturer of fertilizer in Western Canada.

The Pool sells o wide variety of seed to growers througheut Western Conade, including its own proprietary vonieties
developed specifically for prairie farmers and destination customers around the world. The types of craps seeded each
yeor change depending upon commodity price forecasts ond input costs. Producers begin plonning their crop mix and
inpuf needs long before spring seeding, some opting to use pre-payment pragrams that are normally availoble in the
weeks leading up to calendor year-end. Nearly two-thirds of seed, fertilizer and crop protection products are sold and
defivered from mid-April to the end of June in a typical year.

GRAIN HANDLING AND MARKETING
Lacated in Canada'’s prime grain growing region, the Poo) hos o strong competitive footprint:

+ Exceptional marketing capabilities, with 43 high throughput grain handling and marketing terminals, and six
specialty crop cleaning and handling facilities.

< Transportation and logistics expertise with facilities and equipment able to toad 100 cars in 12 hours. This results
in the most efficient grain terminals ond represents 38% of the 100 railcar loading capacity on the Prairies, well
ot in front of our compatitors,

<+ Two wholly owned port terminal export facilities lozated in Vancouver, British Columbio, and Thunder Bay, Ontario,
and an ownership interest in an export facility in Prince Rupert, 8ritish Columbia.

<+ The leading market share in Saskatchewan at 35%, where approximately half of all Canadion grains and ailseeds
are grown,

In the grain business, volume, quality and throughput are the key profitability drivers, Volume is important becouse of
the high fixed cost nature of the business. The more gruin that flows through the Pool’s pipsline, the lower cost per
tonne, resulting in higher profitability. As well, the higher quality the commodity, the higher the margin the Poo!
extracts for services that it provides to move the former's grain to market. The ability to move velurne through cur
primary grain handling network quickly and efficiently, while maintaining quafity specifications, is also key. The Pool's
state-of-the-art network allows it to leverage incentives offered by the roilways for multi-cer Inoding and use themto
attract producer deliveries, giving the Pool the oppottunity te increase markat share.
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CHATTER THREE

Our marketing agreements with international trading companies give us access to important glabal markets,
particularly Asian countries, where there is considerable growth potential. By utilizing the marketing expertise of
trading partners, the Pool fimits its fareign country risk and can secure demand for prairie productior.

AGR)-FOOD PROCESSING

The Pool's significant interast in agri-food processing includes wholly owned Can-Oat Milling, the world’s largast
industrial aat miller, with plants in Partage la Prairie, Manitoba, and Martensville, Saskatchewan, as well os 42% owned
Prairie Malt Limited, one of North America's largest single-site malting plants, located at Biggar, Suskatchewan.

Can-Oat Milling is a market leader in industrial supply. its customers are primarily North American marquee food
manufacturers and brand leaders in breakfast cereals, whale grain and healthy food cheices. Can-Qat controls 41% af
the independent oot milling copacity in North America with technofogy that meets or exceads its competition, Over
90% of its production is exported to the United States,

Prairie Malt Limited is located in Canadu’s prairie region where some of the best barley in the world is grown. Expert
preduction teams handle every phase of the malting process, from barley procurement to production and delivery.
The Pool has a supply agreement with Prairie Malt, giving it the first right of refusal based on quality to supply @
majority of the plant's needs, Prairie Mah products are sold worldwide ta destinations such as lapan, Mexico, South
Africa and South America.

28
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CHAPTER FOUR
UNLOCKING POTENTIAL - VISION, MISSION AND VALUES

Celebrating our unique competitive advantages
to grow profitable market share.

@%ﬁ ﬁ The Pool's successful Recapitalization in 2005 was a
‘ catalyst for our future, providing the financial flexibility

A solutions company unlocking potential and hafance sheet strength to support new growth
opportunitiss. We are now positioned to proactively

develop and launch new customer solution strateqgies aimed at market share growth it eadht of our core businesses.
As we embark on this new era, it is the ideo! time to crystallize our focus through a new vision and missien that
embrace our core values and solidify our commitment to our stakeholders. Our values capture the essence of what
Pocl emplayees stand for and articulate to sur customners, suppliers and sharehiolders where we ote today and where
we want to be in the future.

Our new vision — @ selutions company unlocking potential - signols our
intention to open the door te innovation and strotegic growth to generate
value for aur customers and shareholders,

Our four strategic priorities - optimizing our feotprint, operationol Seck sustainable, profitable
excellence, customer soiutions ond our peaple - have guided our growth /}_y ]e'vgrﬂging
organization since 2003, The Poal’s new vision and mission encompass
thase priorities and sharpen our facus on business strategies and solutions- . )
based programs thot will become the foundation of future success. value chain expertise.

Our stgted values reflect beth our openness to change and our Engage people and utilize
cemmitment to uphold the principles of our heritage. There is o passion for
the Pocl that exists among our employees, sur prairie customers and within
our rural communities. it is a unique quclity that simply cannot be
replicated. This passion is ot the heart of the Pool and is the foundation that exceed expecrations.
upon which we have establishad a set of core values that empower our
employees to be the best they con be through creativity, sound ethical
practice, positive and vigorous performance ond accountability. Our mission and boundless
draws our focus to the tasks at hand as we seek healthy growth and greater enfrepreneuria ] "P":"i £
profitability, by further establishing the Pool's competitive advantages.

our agricultural

assets and technology fo
provide innovative solutions

Embrace teamwwork

Creativity < Ethical Management Practices <
Honesty and Integrity > Freedom to Act < Respounsibility for Results <
Recognize Excellence % Openness and Trust <« Respect for Our Peaple
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From farmgote to end-use markats, the Pool hos always offered quality programs
and services ta maximize value at each stage of our integroted pipeline. Yet there
is room for improvement. We wift reach beyond our customer service standards
and focus on becoming the preferred agri-business partner for western Canadian
farmers and destination customers here and around the world. We will forge new
solutions and business alliances thot create value for all parties.

One of the Pool’s oilsced processing custamers was
experiencing production 1ssues as @ result of excess
. ‘dockage tn ifs canola supplies, which reduced o1l
telds and dz’terea’ the calaur af the oil 1o ﬂddmss the
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CHAPTER FOUR
CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS: CAN-CAT

Our commitment ta excellence is fundamental to the Pool’s success in the future.
We must anticipate customer needs ond execute proactively. Can-Oat Milling has
distinguished itself from its competitors by employing this business approach.
They have captured the attention of multi-national food processors and have
salidified long-term relationships in a highly competitive marketplace.

The wet harvest was impacting the qualiry of oats that
we required to meef the ingredient specifications of our
clients. Qur staff embarked on a proactive strategy. We
determined the extent of the crop damage 1n each region
and identifted those areas with the highest qualiry. We
employed a purchasing strategy to geographically source from
the eptimum location, moving quickly (o secure the grain in
advance of our competition. We des 7grzea’ a system that would
remove any ot kernels. that’ were a’nm!ourezz’ by zncorpm a[zrzg
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CHAPTER FOUR

PRODUCERS

CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS:

q vgluable commodity.

informuotion is

Farming operotions are growing ond diversifying. So, too, o technologies and

's highly competitive market,

In today

e

1

i

=L

r, it is the Pool's responsibility to

think beyond the tronsaction and utilize our expertise to enhance the value of the

farm management practices. As a business partne

relationship. It is our commitment to people that drives this core value at the Pool.

more than 1,000 of our farm customers

This year,
attended comprebensive awareness sessions conducted by

We shared

up-to-date information on grain markets, supply and
demand trends and the latest agronanuic praceices. We also

the Pool in 19 communities across the Prairies.

provided guidance and hands-on training in the safe
application of nitrogen-based fertilizer products. We did not

stop there. Wepan‘nered with one of our suppliers and

equipped each producer with the necessary protective
equipment and safety apparatus to support them in the

Jertilizer application process. It is this commitment to
custgmer solutions, together with the technical expertise of

our merchandisers, agronomists and safety specialists that |

;é’ﬁ the Poa:l Bz‘ptzf"z‘:ﬁ'ain others in 'z‘_be'ina’u;try. ‘

Agﬁ’-products

President,

. Doug Weinberider, Vice
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CHAPTER FOUR
ENHANCED CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT

The Poal is committed to conducting business with the highest ethical standards.
This commitment begins in the workplace and extends to our business
relationships and partnerships.

First introduced in 2004, our enhanced Code of Business Cunduct upholds our
core values and sets our standard for ethical practices and integrity. Pool
directors, officers and employees are responsible for complying with the Code.
Each yeor, they are required to review the Policy and formally acknowledge their
commitment to those principles and standards. The Code has been integrated
into the performance management pracess and is @ condition of ongaing
employment gt the Pool.

We have established processes in place for reporting suspected violations,
including an independently monitored, confidentia! hotline thot protects
privacy ond pravides an ovenue for immediote investigation and corrective
action, if required.
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CHAPTER FOUR
LOOKING AHEAD

To succeed todoy, we must continuously embrace change. As o solutions
company, the Pool will develop market relationships that draw on our
competitive expertise and expand international demand for our products. We
will ensure program solutions far our producers, promote efficiency and
creativity, and drive bottom line results. We will wark with our end-use customers
to define guality characteristies and product specifications te support their sales
growth and solidify our position as their prefarred supplier. We will encaurage
industry consolidation to improve the economics of the ogricultural industry
within Canada, and seek opportunities in every market region to grow market
share, We will unlock our potential through astablished relotionships, new
strategic alliances, joint ventures and acquisitions.

Our vision capitalizes on our strengths through a shared focus. We will define new

business apportunities and, through creativity and innovation, generate valug for

our stakeholders, The possion, commitment ond respect for pecple that has

o deﬁned the Poo). smce its inception will be the underlying fundamental that
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2005 Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Mancgement's Discussion and Analysis was prepared based on information available to Saskatchewan Whaat Pool inc.
{the Pool) as of October 12, 2005, Manogement has prepored this discussion to assist readers in interpreting the Pool's
financial results for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2005, and the changes in performance relative to the previous year,
Manageiment has included informatian to gssist readers in their understanding of the industry and the markets in which
the Pool operates, os wel) as the trends that may impoct operational and finandial performarce into the future.
Additional information on the Paal, including the Annual Information Form is available on SEDAR under the company’s
namg¢ ot www.sedar.com.

The Pool's Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes have been prepoared in
accordance with Canadian generuily accepted accounting principles and are presented in Canadian dollars.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Paol is a vertically integrated Canadian agri-businass engaged in three distinct but interrelated businesses, Founded
in 1924, the company serves aver 70,000 western Canadian farmers and markets commiodities and food products

around the warld. it is the largest publicly traded agri-business in the Pravince of Saskatchewan and the second largest
in Western Conada.

The Pool’s core businesses are grain handling and marketing, agri-products sales and oat processing. The Pao! alse
participates in malt processing through an affiliated company and in other commadity-related businesses through
strategic alliances and supply agreements.

The Pool's fiscal year runs from August Lst to July 31st and follows the traditional crop year. The bulk of agri-products sales
in each fiscal year are in the fourth quarter, which occurs in the spring and summer when the crop is planted and is
moturing. For the grain business, harvest takes place in the fall ond the Pool does not typically begin receiving new crop
supplies until well intg the first quarter, Grain movement throughout, the year is dependent upen destination customer
demand, the Canadian Wheat Board's export program, and producers’ marketing decisions, which are driven by commodity
price expectaticons and cash flow requirements.

Business Model

The Pool's business model is designed to aptimize its pasition in the agri-faod pipelina by cannecting producers and their
commodities with destination customers oround the world, generating revenue at each stage of the volue-odded pipeline.

The pipeline begins with the producer. The Pool provides agronomic advice 1o producers and works with them to deliver
customized agricultural solutions to support high-guality, high-yielding crops demanded in the international
marketplace, The Pool sells a wide voriety of specialized grains and oilseeds, along with fertilizer, crop Inputs and small
agricuttural equipment, Through production contracts, trucking premiums, financing options and fargeted marketing
programs, the Poal attracts grain inte its high throughput grain handling network on the Prairies where the product is
cletned, dried and blended befera it is sold to the domestic or export market. The Pool markets the grain direct to end-
use custorners through the Pool's commodity merchandisers or through the Canadian Wheat Board (CWB), shipping the
praduct by truck or rail. The Pool manages the transportation and logistics reguirements to the destination and is
responsible for maintaining the integrity of the product white en route and in storage. For the international marketplace,
the preduct normally moves through cne of the Pool's pert terminal facilities. Once the praduct reaches the port, the Pool
may clean the commodity again. Before being loaded onto vessels, the product is graded by Canadian Grain Commission
inspectors to ensure it meets the quality specifications demanded by the international marketplace.
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Pool commaodities can be found in food products around the world. Whether they be in breakfast cereals and snack bars
sourced from the Pool's out pracessor, Can-Oat Milling, or traded through strategic alfiances and supply agraements with
other food processing and consumer products compunies internationally, the Poal develops relationships globally to
secure demond for prairie agricultural products, completing the pipeline to the consumer.

Grain Handling and Marketing

The Pool’s grain handling and macketing operation includes 43 high throughput grain handling and marketing terminals
and six specialty crop cleaning and handling facilities strategically located in the prime agricultural growing regions of
Westarn Canada, it alse includes two whally owned pert terminal expart facilities located in Vancouver, British Columbia,
and Thunder Bay, Ontaria, and an ownership interest in an export facility in Prince Rupert, British Columbid.

In fiscal 2005, the Pool created o joint venture with James Richardson International Limited (JRI). JR) operates on the
Prairies and at port position under the "Pioneer” brand. The Pocl and JR! combined their wholly owned port terminals
in Vancouver into a single oparating company. The assets remain with the parent companies but the operations ore
run together. Located side-by-side on the North Shore, the new venture will increase the efficiency of the Port of
Vancouver, reduce overall operating costs for both companies, and increase the competitiveness of Canada’s export
capabilities. The joint venture, which is subject to final regulatory appravals, is opetating under a temporary arder from
the Competition Bureaus.

Agri-products

The Pool's Agri-products segment operates a network of 101 retaif locations throughout Western Canade, covering over
70% of the crop growing regions of the Praries. Each facility is involved in the specivlized storsge and sales of bulk
fertitizer, bagged seed, crop protection products and agricuttural equipment, such as storoge bins, Many jocations aiso
store and sel! anhydrous ammonia, g cost-effective form of nitrogen fertilizer. The Pool provides educationol training to
producers to support the safe use of this preduct on-farm. All fucilities provide seed, soil and moisture testing services,
The Poal's retail storas are staffed by individuals with agronomic and agri-business expertise and are supported by g team
of professional agronomists.

The Agri-products segment olso includes v research and development centre at the University of Saskotchewan,
the Pool's shore of jointly owned offiliate Western Co-operative Fertilizers Limited (WCFL), a fertilizer wholesaler and
manufacturer in Calgory, Alberta, ond its investment in Inter-provincial Co-pperative Limited, an important
manufocturer and supplier of crop protection products in Conada. Through its strategic alliances with Farm Credit
Lanada and John Deere Credit, the Poo! offers agri-products finanding to prairie producers,

Agri-food Processing

The Pool's significant interests in agri-foad procassing include wholly owned Can-QOat Milling, the warld's largest industrial
oot miller with plonts in Portage la Prairie, Manitoba, and Martensville, Saskatchewan, as well as 42% awned Prairie Malt
Limited, one of North America’s lorgest single-site malting plants, located at Biggar, Saslatchewan.

Can-0at Milling has established itself as a market leader in industrial supply and is the supplier of choice for many Nerth
American food manufacturers. Can-Oat’s customers are primarily North American marquee food manufacturers and
consistent brand Jeaders in breakfast cereals, whole grain and healthy food choices. Can-Qat contrals 41% of the
independent oat milling capacity in Narth America with technalogy that meets or exceeds its campetition. Mare than
90% of its production is exported to the United Stotes,

Prairia Malt Limited is located in the heart of Conodd's vast Prairie region where some of the best barley in the world is
grown within a 100-kilometre radius of the plant. Prairie Malt hos an onnual cepocity of 220,000 metric tonnas and
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praduces top qualtty malt that is shipped to custamers throughout Canadag, the United States, the Pacific Rim, South Africa
ond Latin America,

Discontinued Operations

The Pool exited the hog praduction, feed processing and aquaculture industries in fiscal 2004. The results from
these operations have been classified as discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and
Retained Earnings (Deficit). Readers may refer to Note 19 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financia) Stotements
for additienal information.

MARKET ENVIRONMENT
Grains and Qilseeds

Western Cunada produces, on average, 53 millian metric tonnes {mmt) of grains and oilseeds annually (based on the
1997-2001 overage of the six major grains and oilseeds), of which 63%, or 33 mrnt, Is avoilable to Prairie grain handling
componies to market to end-use customers or through the CWB. The rest remains in Canada and is consumed domestically
by food procassors and feedlots.

WESTERN GANADIAN PRODUCTION
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Prairie production available for the 2005 fiscal year returned to pre-drought levels, after three years of dry weather
hampered grains and cilseeds praduction across Westen Canada. Fiscal 2005 crop production {harvested in the fall of
2004) totalled 53 million tannes, in line with the five-yeor average in Western Canada. Heovy rain in the spring seeding
periad restared much needed moisture to the land but delayed planting by a5 much as six weeks in some areas. As a result,
when an unprecedented early frost hit in late summer, the immoture plants sustained significont damage. This was
followed by heavy rains, which halted harvest and caused further deterioration. The result was a poor quality crap and a
shartened export period for fiscal 2005, These factors impacted fiscal 2005 results and were the primary reasons for the
year-over-year earnings veoriance in the Grain Handling and Marketing segment,

Seeding tonditions for the crop harvested in 2005 were ideal in Alberta and Saskatchewan with ample rains and sunshine,
porticutarly in Soskatchawan, setting the stoge for an above average crop. Manitoba farmers were not as fortunate,
experiencing cold, wet weather and significant floeding in some areas. For most of the summer months, crop development
was normal across the Prairies and based an the October 5, 2005 Statistics Canada estimate, the 2006 crop in Western
Canada will be averuge gt 52.5 miltion 1onnes. A larger than average crop in Saskutchewan is expacted to offset the
significant decline in Monitoba produciion, which is down 40% from the five-year overage,
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Farmers have held approximately 7.7 millian tonnes of lower quality
LS OF TG 1OMNLS grains (average annual carry-over is approximately 5 million tonnes for
B Y evoarmrage s« the six mojor grains) on-farm fram fiscal 2005 (hurvested in 2004).

Given historically low prices, the Pool expects g similar carry-over level
ot the end of fiscol 2006,

Based an QOctober 11, 2005 reparts, harvest in Western Canada was
s 70% to 75% complete, with Sasketchewan at approwmately 80%,
Manitoba ot 95% and Alberta at 60% to 70%, Wetter, cacler weathar
in the northern grain belt has left those regions logging behind the
southerly regions. In addition, crop quality, primarily for cereal grains
being harvested in the northern dreas, will experignce some
deteriorgtion due to the wet weaother, the extent of which won't be
datermined uritil harvest is complete. Crop quality in fiscal 2006 is stifl
expacted to be better than the pravious year und, hased on current views, a reasonable mix of crops will be available for
fiscal 2006, However, the feed groin cornponent will be a larger portion than averoge os o resuit of weather.
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Grain handling and marketing is seasanal with the strongest movement typically accurring in the August te October and
May to July periods, the first and fourth quarters for the Peol.

The CWB is the sole exporter of western Canadian milfing wheat and malt barley (Board grains). The Poof alsa buys and
markets for its own account, non-Bodrd grains such as canola, aats, peas and mustard. About 60% of the Pool's total
shipments are Board grains {five-year average) and this can fluctuate by as much os 10%, depanding on wheat and
barley production and the Boord's export program in any given year, Grain is classified, graded and inspected by the
Canadian Grain Commission,

Grain handling componies market non-Board grains and oilseeds directly to end-use customers domestically and into the
international marketplgce. A significant portion of the Pool's international demand is secured through strategic afliances
and supply agreements with internationy! food processors and commodity trading firms.

Exparts in 2005 were approximately 83% of the five-year average despite a 12% increose in nan-Board grain and oilseed
exports. The CWB, which criginally targeted exports at 16.3 million tannes for fiscal 2005, was challenged with an
sbundance of low quality commodities and poor grain prices and achieved only 14,8 million tonnes of exports in 2005.

Exports for 2006 are currently expected to
rebaund with the CWB targeting a 22%
1 NanBesn! Cruns & Olieds " yeer-over-year increase. Their ability to
 puard coms ®  meet this target Is dependent on the
i quality of harvested crops as the majority
o of their customers seek higher quality
§(,; commodities. The quality of wheat and
barley that is yet to be harvested is
unknown but some quality deterioration is
expected as g result of recent rains.
200 Oilseeds and pulse crop quality is good to
_ excellent and non-Board exports are
O ettt ok g o s o e Zornt o s expected to increcse by 24% given the
Cansdian Gran™ (heiades mastar C3nphdan whedt vadorks 1 abaut .4 mnit

abundance of canola available for

shipment this year.

1997 1994 1929 Zooy 2001 1997-01 200z 2003 2004 200%
Five V1 Avg

38

doa1



T e A A

Transportation is o significant fuctor in the agricultural industry because of competing demands for ruilcars and
equipment to support Conoda’s exports. Over the post three years, the amount of rail capacity dedicated to grain
movement has declined because of the drought-reduced crop size, together with increased demand from Ching and
othey importing nations for commodities like potosh. Canadian National Railway Company and Canada Pacific Roilway
Limited are the primary transpartation providers for prairie farmers, With o return to normal crop production levels on
the Prairies, and o larger than average crop in Saskatchewan, the agricultural industry is encouraging additional rail
capacity in arder to mest its export objectives in 2006,

The CWB also plays a significant rale in the transportation of wheat and barley. The CWB allocates 80% of the railcars
based on a formuja that calculgtes eqch grain company's previous 18-week producer deliveries. The remaining 20% of
the CWB sales pregram is put to tander where grain componies con hid on the railcars. The winning bidder has the obility
ta spat those cars at any location and work with area producers to saurce the grain just in time to maximize efficiency.
In fiscul 2005, the CWB executed tenders for approximately 17% of their shipments in an attempt to capitalize on the
efficiencies and cost savings available through high thraughput elevators to offset overall declines in grain prices. The
Poo! expects tenders o return to the 20% target for the CWB export pregram in 2006.

Agri-praducts Market

The Agri-products industry in Western Canada is @ mature market 1t is
made up of about 240 competitors setvicing 900 locotions throughout

Western Canada (750 retail operations in the Poal's market area). waliTata I

AGRIPRODUCTS |
DISTIBUTED GLFOGHAHIZAS

i
independent retsilers, who hold about 30% of the market, together with

a host of mojor grain handlers, sell seed, fertilizer, crop protection
products ond smoll ogricultural equipment. The total market is

approximately $3.4 billion in sales, geographicolly distributed.

The Pool competes in 16 market centres with effective market coverage
of about $2.2 billion. it does not aperate retail stores in all areas of Ryl
Manitobe and Alberto and, therefore, does not have aceess to their entire
tnarkets. Low crop prices and poor grawing conditions can put pressure
on volumes and margins from time to time but, in general, the industry
has historically supported retail gross margins in the 15% range.

Soue: SWthrigs Canady, Bay U085 Fare Expwize Repart

Total market acreage of about 62 million has remained essentially the sume for the past five years with some growth in
seed soles as o result of producers shifting from cereal grains to cancjo and spedial crops,

Fertilizer prices can also alter buying behaviour and sales. Pricing is
highly dependent upon natural gas prices. if praducers believe that
fertilizer {andfor natural gas) prices are on the rise, they will pre-buy
product in an attempt to reduce overall input fosts,

TERNCANAL

While seeded acreage has been relatively stable historically, there has
been growth in input usage driven by new seed technologies and
»  varietigs, new fungicides ond by o shift from cereol grains to cilseeds
B 1. and special crops. This growth is expected to taper off and general agri-
“ 1. products growth will more closely track inflation in the future.

i

Spect Crops Bl

FvaYe 2001 2002 2003 2004, 2005 2008
avg” Entimate
= b pear svemde 7UG0 0 2004

Soures St Canady

39

@70

42



. AdAA IR A

The industry is highly seasonal with appraximately 75% of seed,
fertilizer and crop protectian products sold and delivered from
rnid-April to the end of June in o typical year. The foll szason from
August to November represents about 15% of the business, The
post-harvest buying period is dependent on the weather as
freezing temperatures and snowfall can bring the season to a halt
and push sales into the spring. A strang fall application period can
relieve some of the spring logistical requirements because
fertilizer will not be reapplied in the spring, while other products
» such us herbicides are not affected by fall upplication canditions
and will be upplied in the spring.

B U 1,540,000

& daninla
0 afletin

2,000,000
& Y harcheran

2,501,000
2,000,600
1,5).000
1,001,000

500,006

19%9 2600 2807 2002 7003 10U
~ eagluding suipracing

Sovtem Stagvriiy Canagdy - Form Sxpans onsd Doprediation Chores,
Agricuiture Beanmmic dtatkucs

Oat Processing

Canada is the third largest oat producer and the largest oat and aat preduct exporter in the world, representing 56% of
the werld's oot export trade, Total world production stands at 25 million tonnes of oats, which includes oats for feed and
human consumption. Canada’s oot production has remained relatively stable over the past 15 years and represents
about 14% of the world's total, Over 85% of Canada's outs are produced in Western Canada, with the majority, abaut
65%, grown in Suskatchewan ond Mapitoba.

WORLOOAT EXROET
PERCINTACL

The industry hos seen streng growth in North American milling demand,
As a result, the percentage of total oot production that is utilized for
food and industrial purposes has increased. Approximately 25% ta 30%
of the annual crop is milling quolity, while the rest is utilized as feed.
Canada consummes less than 50% of its production and exports the
remainder, primarily to the United States. Canada exported 1.2 mmt to
the United States lost year, representing approximately 78% of that
country's total aat imparts.
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Qat milling is on ottractive segment of the food ingredients market and
holds a strang position in the econamy. Qats are non-GMO (genetically
madified organism) and are o wholesome and natural whole grein,
grown and processed with very little chemical application. Qat
ingredients are functionally suitable for the rapidly growing "convenience fosd" product categaries, which is another
important growth driver for the food industry. Oat demand is stable and porticularly resistont to industry downturn os @
resuit of being a very ecanomical food source, Demand for oat ingredients has risen in 2005, reflecting consumers' switch
from protein-based diets to whale grain alternatives. The Food and Drug Administration in the Unitad States approved a
heaith claim for ogt-based praducts stating that the soluble fibre from oatmeal, as part of a low-soturated fof, low-
cholesteral diet, may reduce the risk of heart disease. This official accaptance toward whale grain cansumption has
heightenad consumer interest in oat-based foods. Many cerea! and snack bar makers are now altering their product lines
to include whole grains, o pasitive development for the aats industry ver the Jong-term.

Sourru: Salcom .

Prices for Can-Oat’s human consumption sales are determined in the United States. Foreign exchange exposure is on
issue that must be managed by Canadian gat millers. Can-Oat has hedging strategies in place to manage its exposure
ond to ensure its products remain competitively priced in the U.S. market.
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The Malt Industry

Malt, a processed form of top quality barley, is the basic ingredient used in the production of beer. Malt provides mest of
the complex carbohydrates and sugars, which are necessary 10 give beer its distinctive flavour and alcohol content. For
the same reasons, malt is used in making whiskey and other distilled spirits. tt is also gaining considergble popularity in
the food industry as a flavouring component and a source of nutrition. Quality, therefore, is essential. The main raw
material used in the production of malt is malting quality borley,

Total warld production of malt is approximately 18 million tonnes.

Globa! beer demand continues to grow with annual growth rates
estimated ot 2% per yaar. The main source of increased demand comes
from emerging markets. This growth is attributable to increasing demand
from China and latin Americo, which is expected 1o gradually offset
decreasing trade with Russia.

PERCONTAGE
Lasizafio 4% B c e

fansds 6%

The CWB holds a menapoly on Canadian mait barley sales to domestic
and international custsmers. Sales are made directly by the CWE o by
Accredited Exporters af the CWB, Canadian maltsters purchase all of their
malting barley from the CWB, with prices for malting barley based on
North Americun and international market prices.

Cing 17%

The malting industry is the largest value-added exporter of grain in
snirsa: Ratuaback atunates, 2004 Canada and the largest barley customer of the CWB, purchasing over

50% of ayailable CWB stacks wnnudlly. Between 1985 and 2001, the
industry virtually tripled its malt exports to approximately 550,000 tonnes and Canada became the second largest mait
exporter in the world (Source: Malting Industry Assaciation of Canada, Third Canadian Barley Sympasium).

KEY BUSIRESS DRIVERS FOR THE POOL

The Pool’s ability to achieve success in the western Canadian agricultural industry is dependent upon key drivers.

in the grain business, volume, quality and throughput are the key profitability drivers. Volume is important because of the
high fixed cast nature of the business. The more grain that flows through the Poof's pipgline, the lower the cost per tonne
resulting in higher profitability. A significant portion of earnings is genefated in the fourth quarter.

Fiscal 2005 - Quarter Ending

October 31 January 31 April 30 July 31
Primary shipmerits {mmt) 15 18 16 19
EBITDAL (M) $0.8 $7.1 5104 $14.3
EBTDAftonne $0.53¢ $3.94 5 647 $ 745

1 Before ppe-time items

2 £8ITDA {carnings hefore interest, toxes, depreciation and amertization, provision recoveries and discontinued operations) in the first
quarter of 2005 was unusually low because of the late harvest, which limited supplies required to meet sales commitments and
resutted in increosed premium payments and first quorter costs.

With the deminam market share in Saskatchewan, where typically over 50% of western Canadian grains ond oilseeds are
grown, the Pool has occess to sufficient supplies to maximize both its primary capacity on the Prairies and its port
terminal capacity at export. In a normal year, every 5% change in western Canadian production has approximately a
%6 million EBITDA impact to the Pool.
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Quality is also an important factor that drives profitability and impacts margins in two ways. First, the highar the quality
of the commodity, the higher the margin the Paol extracts for services it provides to move the farmer's grain to market.
In addition to elevation and storage fees, the Pool charges for cleaning and drying, and for processing ot port position to
ensure the commadity is export ready. The Pool can also generate additianal revenwe from blending provided there are
sufficient quantities of varying grades.

Quality can also impact volumes ond shipments. For instance, the COWB has emple international demand for milling
quality wheat in the top three grades and for quolity mait barley for brewing, However, international demand for feed
groin is limited. CWB exports depend, 1o some extent, on the total quality and mix of the Canadian crop, and their exparts
directly impact western Conadian grain handting shipments for all industry players.

The average pipeline margin per tonne {gross margin per tonne
excluding other revenue and one-time items) available to the Pool
assuming & norma! quality mix, average production levels and regular
export program is between $20 and $22 per tonne, A $1 swing in
margin translates into approximately $8 million in EBITDA for the Pool.

The Pool believes thot its margin per tonne will improve in fiseal 2006
due to the larger Soskatchewan crop. However, the extent of that
improvement will also be dependent upon the crop mix and the
amount of feed grain that meves through the system in 2006.

Velocity is impartant in the Pool's gruin handling system — that is the
ability o move volume through eur primary grain handling network
quickly and efficiently while maintaining quality specifications. The
Pool has 38% of the 100-car loading capacity, which is well ghead of the 21% held by its closest compatitor. This i
important because rail companies, which are responsible for moving the grain to export pasition, offer grain handling
companies incentives for loading product onto multi-car unit trains. The Pool shares these incentives with praducers to
lower their costs, and to ottract grain into its system in an effert to increase profitable market share.

in fiscal 2005, the Pool shipped 91% of its grains ond oilseeds in 25, 50 and 100 carloads, with 74% of the grain being
shipped in 50s and 100s. The key to managing the pipefine and maximizing future earnings is to target opportunities for
large multi-car shipments, Rail incentives on 25 cars can be gs low as $0 per tonne, rising to $7.00 per tonne for
100-car trains (railcars can hold gbout 90 tonnes of grains or eilseeds, depending on the commodity).

The Pool’s western Canadian market share is 23%, up from 21% in fiscal 2004, Assuming normal industry conditicns,
every 1% change in market share transiates into appraximately $5 million of EBITDA for the Grain Hondling and
Marketing segment.

in the Pool's Agri-products segment, seeded acreage is o key driver of  PIA R L liRce
prefitahbility. Crop mix drives agri-products sales becouse commoditigs | PaveeoF TPRacke
like wheat and borley require substantially fewer inputs thon special Wheat
crops and canola. The type of crops seeded each year varigs depending
upon commadity price forecasts and input costs, Each crop requires a
different type and level of agri-product inputs and, as ¢ result, margin Barley
opportunities vary,

Canolu and special crap grawers typically purchuse seed each year. For cm«.L
wheat, seed purchoses are mode for specio) varieties but farmers can
re-seed reqular varieties using seed from the previous harvest.
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Fertilizer pricing is also o business driver for agri-products suppliers. Natural gas is a primary component of nitrogen
fertilizer and, as its price fluctuates, so do fertilizer prices. Producers’ buying behaviour, hoth in terms of timing and
quantity, will change depending on pricing. As a result, companies must monitor pricing to secure fertilizer at the right
time and be flexible with supply to ensure the demand will be there during the application periods. Weather also
influences the timing and quantity of sales in this business, Farmers regularly purchase crop protection products and
fertilizer in the foll and spring periods. Extremely wet or dry conditions will alter the type and quality of input purchases,
depending an the level of plont disease ond insect infestations for crop protection products and the amount of soil
moisture for fertilizer. Each 1% change in agri-products retail sales revenue results in approximately $0.5 million in
EB(TDA. A 1% change in retail gross margin translates into approximately $3 million in EBITDA,

For the oat milling business, yield is a significant factor in profitability. in an averuge year, it takes 1.6 tonnes of raw oats
to produce one tonne of oat ingredients. The quality of row vots hos the most significant impact on yield. Yields typically
range from 1.6 tonnes to 1.7 tonnes, Oot varieties, soil conditions and farm proctices can have a significant impact on
quality and an a number of characteristics which are required to meet specifications defined by select customers. Evary
new crop has its own characteristics and milling adjustments are typically required to attain the best yield,

Qats are priced in U.S, doliars and ore predominantly driven by the world feed grain market. The price of finished goods
moves up ond down with the price of nats, A streng Canadian dellar can crecte foreign exchange challenges and hedging
practices are important to protact margins and ensure that Canadfan product remeins competitive with American millers.

In the malt business, reliable quality is a key facter in maintaining sdles with internetional customers. Only high quality
malt barjey is selected for the mokting process so crop quality issues can affect supply and increase production costs.
Based on initial views of the trade as of September 30, 2005, the amount of malt barley that may be selected for maiting
purposes in 2006 is in the range of 70% tc 80% of avernge. These estimates could improve or decline by the end of
harvest depending on quality tests on the remaining malt barley that is still in the fields.

Energy consumption, labour, und yield maximization (the amount of malt produced from a tonne of barley) are also key
production drivers for Prairie Maft. Notural gas is on important element and rising prices can significantly impact
margins. In addition, because sales are priced in U.S. dollars, a strengthening Canadian dollor can affect earnings. Prairie
Malt reduces the impact of foreign currency fluctuations by engaging in hedging activities.

STRATEGIC FOCUS

Fiscal 2005 was an impoartant year for the Paal. The Pool implemented a Recapitalization that allowed the campany te
change its corporate structure, redesign its share structure, redyce debt und enhance corporate governance, In February
of 2008, the Poal announced a multi-step approach that resulted in:

e The Paol continuing as a Canada Business Corporation effective March 31, 2005,

o Issuing  single cfuss of common voting shares to Class A sharsholders {the Pool’s farm members under the previous
co-operative structure), to Class B shareholders and 1o holders of the Pool's Convertible Subordinated Notes.

® At the same time, the Poal changed its governance structure to more closely align Soard representation with the
ecanomic interest of its entire shareholder base, The Board of Directors is made up of:

- five farmer-directors [previously eight), all of whom have previous Board experience with the Peol and bring
voluable agricultural expertise and customer intelligence to the Board;

- six directors (previously four) from the business community with expertise in the areas of finonce, accounting, law
and corporate governance; and

~ the Chief Executive Officer not previausly on the Boord).
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Following the Recapitalization:
@ the Pool completed a $150 millicn rights offering;
o the rights offering was substantiolly oversubscribed; and

o after costs associated with the rights offering, the Pool raised $142 million in net proceeds. The Pool repaid its
$100Q million term foan and used the remaining proceeds to support working capital.

With renewed balance sheet strength, the Pool has sufficient funds ovailable and finoncial flexiblity to meximize operational
opportunities, a factor that has restored customer confidence and allowed the Pool ta increase sales and market share
in 2005, The Pool is now in a position to mere adequately absorb the impact of adverse weather-related issues.

As the Paol loaks te the future, management recognizes that, with normal crops, the Paol can produce healthy cash flow.
The Baard of Directars and the manogement team are assessing the apprapriate use of cash with a view to shareholder
value, managed growth and risk mitigation.

The Pool believes there ore opportunities to grow its core business organicolly through customer expansion strategies,
regional acquisitions, joint ventures and alliances. The Pool's joint venture with James Richardson International at the
Vancouver port is an example of how alliances and partnerships can create odditional industry efficiencies, improve
competitiveness and productivity without adding additional capacity.

The Poo! also believes in Can-Oat's potential and is currently assessing strategies to expand its product offerings,
customer base and capacity utilization. Can-Qat's reputatian for quality und setvice, tagether with its consistent bottom
line performance, illustrates how value-udded processing, managed strategically, can succeed on the Prairies.

With excess capucity still present across Western Canada in the primary grain handling system and in the agri-preducts
industry, consolidation is key if the industry is to be healthy for the long-term. The Pool will continue to encaurage
consolidation. This will be accomplished by working with industry players, governments and regulatory bodies to
implement economic and regulatory policies that encourage efficiency, support derequlation and provide a fair and
equitable marketplace for all participants. Formers will benefit from the increased efficiency and lower cost industry
structure, thereby improving their on-farm profitability.

The Poo! will also focus on its farming customers by developing customized solutions, program bundles and marketing
packages that improve their on-farm efficiency and cash flow. Through the newly established Western Farm Leatlership
Co-operative Ltd., which is in the process of being incorporuted, the Pool will team with select farm lzaders throughout
Western Canada to provide training and growth opportunities that not only support their individual aperations but, also,
the rural communities in which the Pool operutes.

Quality and food sufety continues to be a strong focus for the Pool. In fiscal 2005, the Pool successfully certified 41 of its
grain handling facilities on the Prairies and two port terminal operations to internationally recognized food handjing and
safety standards, known as 150 9001:2000 (international Organization for Standardization). Virtuolly all Pool grain
factlities are now certified and the Pool employs HACCP {Hozord Analysis Criticat Control Point) policies and procedures ta
ilustrate its ongoing commitment to food safety and security.

Can-Out elevated its quality measurements in 2005 through the American Institute of Baking [AIB), which audits
sonitation ond food safety practices in the milling industry. Can-Oat requested that the AIB conduct an unannounced
aydit. Con-Oat received a superior rating and is the first company within its industry to participate in an unplanned audit
process, This commitment to quality is at the heart of the Pool and its affiliates and will continue to be a focus for the
company into the future,

The Pool expects that demand for identity preservation of the crap from farmgate through the pipeline and the ability
ta trace commodities throughout the cycle will become more and more important to domestic and internaticnal
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customers. tts high throughput grain handling terminals already have the ability to segregate products within the system.
The Pool has developed information systems that track the needed intelligence on cropping patterns, chemical use,
ylelds and quality to support future truceability programs. The Pool's ahility to anticipate future consumer trends, food
choices and information needs and develop required salutions in advance is o key thrust and the foundation for its
strategic growth going forward.

Finolly, the Pool, over the coming months, will look at aptions to reduce its overall cost of borrowing and further improve
financial flexibility and halance sheet strength. The Pool has $15Q millian of Senior Subordinated Notes cutstanding that
currently pay 12% interest annually. The Peol is exploring various options to reduce its overall interest costs in 2006,
including options with respect to these outstonding Notes.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ANNUAL:
Incore Statement Dato
{in mitliens)? Year Ended Yeer Ended  Six Months Ended  Six Months Ended
July 31,2005 lly 31,2004 July 31,20033 January 31,2003
. {restated) {restgted)
Post-regrganization  Pre-reéorganization
Sales and Other Operating Revenues §1,3857 $1.4073 $653.0 $687.5
Earnings {loss) from centinuing operations 7.0 179 (9.2 {30.8)
Net recavery {loss) from discontinued gperations 5.1 {129) 64 B39
Net eqrnings {loss) 12.1 50 (15.9) {34.9)
Eornings [loss) per comman share (EPS}):
From cantinuing operations, prior to
uecretion and inducemernt pramiurn 0.25 174 {1.83) (16.34)
from discontinued operations 018 (1.25) (1.35) (2.06)
From conlinuing operations, after
ageretion and inducement premium
____ —Basic and diluted? [1.44y _{018) (4.12) (16.34)
Total eamings (loss) EPS - Basic and diluted? {1.26) _(1.43) {5.48) (18,40}

t In millions, except earnings per share dota.

? There is o dilutive effect from the axercise of options related ta stock option plans or the Canvertible Subordinated Notes becguse it
would be anti-dilutive,

1 Periads ending prior to March 31,2005, ore restaled to reflect the one for 20 share consalidation that wos part of the March 31, 2005
Recopitalization {further information is provided in the July 31, 2005 Notes ta the Consafidated Financial Statements - Note 16).

I The net loss per share for fiscal 2005 reflects non-cash charges to retained earnings of $13.7 million for the accretion of the equity
component of the Convertible Subordinated Notes and a share capital inducement premium of $33.8 million for Convertibie
Subordinated Notehoiders as part of the Pool's Recapitolization initiative, Holders of the Convertible Subordinated Notes received g
premiurm on their conversion rate (3.5 million of additional sharas valued ot $33.8 millian) os an inducemeri to convert their Nates
on March 31, 2005,

% The selected income statement date for the six manths ended January 31, 2003 does not reflect the effects of the finandia!
reorganization that bacame effective on Junuary 31, 2003 or the opplication of fresh start accounting and, os a result, are nat
comporuble to the income statement data for the subsequent financiol periods shown,
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Sales and operating revenues reflect the contributicns of the Pool's three core businesses along with sales from the Pool’s
subsidiaries and joint vantures, proportionately consclidated based on the Pool’s ownership position. Non-Baard grain
ond oilseed pricas have been trending downward since 2003, contributing to lower sales prices in each of the pu?t three
years. Grain shipments ond agri-products sales, on the other hand, have improved each year as trop production and
growing conditions narmalized cfter three years of drought that began in late 2001, For Agri-faod Processing, sales
dipped in fiscol 2004 relative to 2003 because of lower commodity prices and @ temporary reduction in demond due to
the low carbohydrate trend in that year. Demand and sales from this segment strengthened in 2005 as consumer
products companies began marketing the benefits of whole grain oat products.

The earnings {loss) from continuing operations racovered in 2004 after a difficult 2003 fiscal year when production fevels
were nearly cut in half and crop quality was poor betause of drought conditions. The 2004 producion (harvested in the
fall of 2003) wes approximately 88.8% of the five-year, pre-drought average and the quality was good, allowing exports
to increase by 80.3% year-over-yeor and pipeline marging per tonne (gross margin excluding other revenue and one-
time items) of grain to increase from $15.50 to $21.00 on average. In 2005, production (harvested in the fall of 2004)
normalized to the five-year, pre-drought average, allowing for additional shipments. However, wet cald weather and an
unprecedented early frost impacted crop guality and raduced exports for the yeor. Grain margins for fiscal 2005
averaged $17.72 as a result.

With respect to discontinued operations, the Pool exited these businesses and divested of the assets in 2004 ofter severa
difficult years and mounting lossas from its investments in hog production, feed processing and aguaculture businesses.
In 2004, the Pool recorded a net loss from discontinued aparations of $12.9 million. This aftar-iax lass consisted of a
$9.0 millicn loss on divestiture ond $3.9 million in operating losses. The 2005 after-tax recavery from discontinued
operations was 35,1 million, including a $3.8 million recovery related to flings under the Conadiun Agricultural Income
Stabilization Program (a federal provincial risk manegement program alse known as CAIS), as well as q partial recovery
of $0.5 million from the loss on divestiture booked in 2004. The recovery on CAIS represents a partion of the operating
fosses incurred by discontinued operations in prior years.

The earnings per share calculations over the last three years reflect o number of events:

@ The number of shares outstanding grew from 111.7 million shares ot July 31,2003 to 232.2 million shares gt the and
of July 2004, os holders of the Pool's Convertible Subordinatad Notes chose ta convert their notes into Class 8 non-
voting shares,

s The per share amounts in 2003, 2004 and up to March 31, 2005, also include accretian thot was ¢harged ugainst
retained earnings. When the Convertible Subordinated Notes were first issugd, they were recorded on the balance
sheet at their market value at the time, as required by accounting rufes. Each quarter, the Poal would acerete g portion
of the difference hetween the market value and face value of the Notes against retained earnings.

© On March 31, 2005, the Pool exchanged all outstanding Class B non-voting shares for new common shares at @ rate of
one for 20. Convertible Noteholders were asked to convert early and received a premium of 3.5 million additional new
common shares to do so. The number of shares outstending as a result of the Recapitalization was 35.1 million.

= {n May 2005, the Pool issued a rights offering raising gross proceeds of $150.1 million. An additional 46.8 million
shares were issued. The tatal number of shares outstanding as at July 31, 2005 was 81.8 million.

Balance Sheet Data

(in miilions) Asatluly 33,2005 Asatluly 31,2004  Asatluly 31,2003
Total assets ‘ $721.9 $683.4 $787.8
Tewal lang-term liabilities $169.9 32959 $322.0
Dividends paid per shore . 5 - $§ - § -
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The Pool's total lang-term liabilities decfined substontially as at July 31, 2005, as result of the Recapitalization ond
rights offering that raised $142.3 million in net proceeds.The Poal used $100.0 million to retire long-term debt and the
remaining praceeds were used te support ongeing warking capital requirements,

The Paol did not pay dividends in the years listed above. Under the terms of its credit facility, the Poo! cannot pay

dividends on its shares without prior approval from its principal lenders.

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

QUARTERLY:
Fiscal 2005 October 31 Janyary 31 April 3Q July 31 Total
{in millions except for per shore data)
Sales and Other Operating Revenues $ 29 § 32 $ 288 § 547 $ 1386
Earnings {loss) fram continuing operations {15.8) {0.9) (23 25.6 70
Net recovery (loss) from discontinued operations - - 1.2 39 5.1
Nat egrnings (iosg) $ {15.6) $ (09) $ (a9 § 295 § d1
Earnings {loss) per comnon share:
From continuing operations,
______prior to accretion and indycement premium _ $_ (130) $ (0.07) $ (011 $ 039 $ 0,25
After accretion and inducement premium
From continuing operations § (1.72) % (0.50) $ {199) § 038 $ (1.44)
From discontinued cperations - - 0.06 0.06 0.18
Earnings floss) per comman share § (172 $ {0.50 § (192) 0.44 $ {126)
Diluted eqrnings (lass) par common share $_(1L72) $ {0.50) 5 (1.92) 0.44 § (1.26)
Fiscal 2004 October31  lanuary 31 Aprif 30 July 31 Total
(in railtions except for per share data)
Sales and Other Operating Revenies % 284 $ 32 3 2% § 542 S 1,407
Egrnings {loss) from cantinuing opérations (7.1) 9.5 {48 20.3 179
Net recovery (o) from discontinued operations 2.7) {14.3) {4.3) 0.4 (129)
Net earnings (loss) $ (59 $ (4.8 $ {91 § 287 $ 50
Earnings (lass) per common share {restated (v)):
____From continuing operations, prier to eceretion  § (0.80) $ 0497 $ (043) § 176 5 174
After accretion
From ¢ontinuing operations S (13% § 045 $ (087) $ 134 £ {0.18)
.. Fram discontinued operations {0.30} (1.45) _{0.39) 0.73 (1.25)
Earnings {loss) per common share § (1.67} £ (1.00) $ (126 $ 207 $ (143}
Qiluted egrnings (loss) per common share $ (167} £ (1.00} 5 (1.26) § 092 5 (143}

(a) For periods prior to April 30, 2005, eamings per share has baen restated to reflact the ona for 20 share consolidetion that was port

of the March 31, 2005 Rezapitalizdtion process.

The Peal's sales and other operating revenues dre segsonal, with the largest percentage of salet accurring in the fourth
quarter {May to July period), when the majority of the Pool's agri-products are sold ond producers ship grain to free up
on-farm stornge for the following harvest. In general, the primary variances between the quarterly sales in 2005 versus

2004 are the result of;

o higher grain shipments in 2005, reflecting nermal preduction levels and an increase in the Poal’s western Canadian

market share from 21% in fiscal 2004 to 23% in fiscal 2005;
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o |ower non-Board grain prices in 2005 versus 2004;

e higher agri-products sales in 2005 reflecting strong producer demand for crop inputs, particularly fertilizer; and
e higher sales from the Agri-fond Processing segment resulting from increased sales of finished whale oot products

through Can-Oat Milling.

Earnings from continuing operations primarily refiect fower grain margins this year in the Grain Handling and Marketing
segment, resulting from poar guality erops that lirited CWB shipments and higher costs resulting fromn premiums paid in
the first half of 2005 because of the late harvest, which limited supplies required to meet sales commitments.

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Readers should refer to the following chart that summarizes one-time items included in fiscal 2005 and 2004 when

comparing the operating results in both years,

Soskatchewan Wheat Pool inc.
One-time ltems - Summary

Fiscal 2005 (in millions of §) October 31 January 31 April 30 July 31 Total
Grain $ 07 § 09 § 00 § 29 $ 45
Corporgte 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
. Total one-time items in ESITDA 0.7 0.9 0.0 2.8 45
____Total one-time items in EBIT 0.7 0.9 0.0 29 4.3
Tax recovetiss 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.0 14
Tat impact of one-time ftams (0.9) (0.4) 0.0 {0.3) (0.5)
Total tox impact 0.6 0.6 0.0 {0.3) 09
Total ane-time iteths in eamings {loss)
from rontinuing operations $ 13 § 15 $ 0.0 § 24 5 5.4
(@) (8] (ch
Fiscal 2004 (in millions of §) October 31 January 31 April 30 July 31 Total
Grain $ 00 $§ &5 § 00 $§ 38 5 10.0
Corporate 0.0 0.6 16 {0.6) 16
Total ong-time itams in EBITDA 0.0 71 1.6 29 11.6
Provisions 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.2 6.2
.. _Total gne-time iterns in EB(T 0.0 71 1.6 9.1 178
Tax recoveries 0.0 2.8 0.0 0.0 26
Tax impact of one-time items 0.0 2.6) (3.2) {1.2) {7.9)
Total tgx impact 0.0 0.0 3.2 (1.2) {4.4)
Totol one-time items in earnings {loss)
from cantinuing operations 5 00 $ 71 $ (16l § 79 g 134
{d) (e) ]

One-time items primarily include:

{a) Ontario capital tox refund

(b} Settlament of a property tax dispute and receipt of a research and development investment tax credit
{c] Interest income on ¢orparate income tax refunds

(d) Property taxes rebate ond interestincoma on corporate income tax refund

(e] Capital refund net of income tuxes

(f) Recovery from sale of interest in Mexicon terminal
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Fiscal 2005 consolidated sales and other operating revenues were $1.39 billion, down $21.6 million from the
$1.41 billion generated in the previous year. Sales through the Agri-praducts segment were up 11.8% year-over-year,
Agri-fuad Processing sales grew 7.1% and Grain Handling and Marketing increased shipments by 7.2%. The year-over-
year variance reffects lower commadity prices for non-Board grains and oilseeds, which were down on average 19.0%
compared to 2004 levels, This impacted the value of consolidated sales for the Grain Hondling and Morketing segment.
However, it is important to note that the key earnings drivers in that business are volume, exports and crop quality as
opposed to commodity prices,

selling gnd administrative expenses for fiscal 2005 were $54.7 million, which compares to $52.4 million in fiscal 2004,
The primary reason for the variance s related to $2.4 million in capital taxes that the Pool is now required to pay as
result of becoming @ Canado Business Corporation in 2005.

The Poal generated $70.5 million in EBITDA for 2005, which compares to $87.3 millien in fiscdl 2004. The decline was the
direct result of crop quality issues and a lote harvest that limited supplies of quality commodities in the first quarter of
fiscal 2005, Crop production ovailable for fiscal 2005 was average in size but quality was well below average because of
an early frost that hit at @ critical time in the growing cycle, fallowed by substantial rains during the harvest pericd that
furthier reduced the value of the crop. As a result of these two avents, @ significant portion of the grain that wos ovailable
1o handlers was feed quality. Typically, opproximately 10% of the wheat grown in Western Canada is feed. More than 45%
of Saskatchewan's wheat crop graded as feed in fiscal 2005. Margins are lower on feed wheat because it is not cleaned,
dried or blended and is typically consumed domestically as apposed to moving into the export rnarket. Limited export
opportunities for feed grains challenged the CWB in fiscal 2005 and, as a result, the CWB was only able to secure
14.8 million tonnes of export sales on o target of 26.3 million tonnes for the year.

Despite the challenges in the Grain Handling and Marketing segment, the Pool's Agri-products and Agri-food Pracessing
segments had strong results, generating EBITDA of $39.3 rmillion ond $16.4 million respectively. For the Agri-praducts
segment, this represented o 22.6% increase over fiscal 2004 resuits and for Agri-foad Processing, @ 45.2% increase. Grain
Handling and Marketing EBITDA, excluding ane-time items, was down approximately $17.0 million on a full-year basis as
a result of the quality factors previously mentioned,

Amortization of property, plant and equipment and certain other long-term assets for the twelve months was
$26.5 million compared to $24.6 million in fiscal 2004, increased omartization year-over-year is reflective of ongoing
investment in property, plant and equipment.

Corporate costs for fiscat 2005 were $22.3 million, which compares to $18.6 million in the prior year, The primary reason
for the increase is relgted to $2.4 million in Saskatchewan capital taxes that the Pool is now required to pay os a result
of becoming a Canada Businass Corporation in 2005. In addition, in 2004 the Pool received g $1.6 million one-time
capitol refund related to one of its investments that reduced corporate costs in thot year.

Interest expense for the year totalled $37.1 million, down from $39.1 millien in 2004. Cast: interest expense was
$21.7 million in 2005, which is down $6.9 million, or 24.1%, from 2004. The lawer cash costs primarily reflect a reduction
in short-term borrawings becayse of lower grain commadity prices year-aver-year, in conjunction with the repayment of
$100.0 miffion of term debt in June of 2005. The $15.4 million non-cash component included:

= seven months of accretion reloted to the debt cormponent of Convertible Subordinated Motes that were retired
effective March 31, 2005;

o $3.9 million of financing costs that were incurred during the year and written off in the fourth quarter when the Poal
repaid its $100.0 millien term lodn; :

e g full year of accretion related to the company's Senicr Subordinated Notes; and
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e approximately $1.0 million reloted to the amortization of deferred financing costs. The unamortized balance of
$4.1 million at July 31, 2005 will be recegnized as a charge 1o interest expense over the remaining life of the Pool’s
operating lines, which mature March 2008.

Last year, the Pool's non-cash interest expense was $10.5 miliion,

The Poal recorded eamings biefore interest and taxes (EBIT) of $44.1 million in fiscal 2065 and $69.0 million in 2004.

Excluding one-time items in both years, EBITwas $39.6 millian this year compared to $51.1 million in 2004.

Earnings from continuing operations for the twelve-month period ended July 31, 2005 were §7.0 million compared to

$17.9 million in 2004, The Pool racovered approximately $5.1 million from discontinued operations in 2005. In 2004, the

Pool recorded a $12.9 million loss from discontinued operations associgted with its investments in heg production,
aquaculture ond feed mill operations.

On a net income basis, Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc. earned $12.1 million in fisca! 2005 up from $5.0 million a year
earlier. Earnings per share information s summarized below.

Earnings Per Share
Year ended Year ended
July 31, 2005 July 31, 2004
Weighted average shores qutstanding (M) 28,103 10,333
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding (M) 28,103 10,333
EPS from gontinuing operatiens prior 1o accretion and Inducement premium 05 174
EPS fram discomtinued operations 0.18 {1.25)
EPS from continuing operaticns after accretion and inducement premium
~ Basi¢ (1.48) 0.18)
~ Diluted ] {144} {0.18)
Total EPS - earmings {loss)
- Basic {1.2¢)2 (1.43)
- Diluted (126 (1.43)

t The net loss per share for 2005 refiects non-cash charges to retoined earnings of $13.7 million for the accretion of the equity
component of the Convertible Subsrdinaied Notes and o shore capital inducement premium of $33.2 million for Convertible
Subvrdinated Noteholders ps part of the Poal's Recapitalization initiative, Noteholders recelvad a premium on their conversion rote
(3.5 millian of additional shares valued at $33.8 million) o5 an inducement to convert their Notes on March 31, 2005.

Grain Handling ond Marketing Segment

The Pool shipped 6.9 million tonnes of grains ond oilseeds in fiscal 2005, up 7.2% over 2004, A larger crap in
Saskatchewan coupled with strong producer deliveries more than offset an 11.4% decrease in CWB expors
year-over-year. Approximately 63.7% of Ponl shipments for the twelve months wera Board grains, which was on por
with fiscal 2004. However, CWB shipments dropped off in the final quarter of the year (62.0% in F2005's Q4 versus
£9.5% in F2004s Q4), reflecting the significant marketing challenges the CWB faced in securing feed groin sales into
the internationol marketplace,

Port terminal volumes improved by approximately 8.4% year-over-year despite these export challenges. Market share
gains across the Prairies supported port terminal volumes as producer confidence grew and deliveries into the primary
system increased, The Pool's fiscal 2005 westarn Canadian market share grew to 23% for the year, g 9.9%, or two paint
increase, year-over-year, The Pool reclized market share gains in ol three prairie provinces, with the largest gain being
recorded in Saskatchewan.
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Twelve-Month Yolumes
{in thousands| F2005 F2004 incregse
Primary Elevotor Receipts 4,813 6,170 10%
Primary Elevater Shipments
Boord grains 4,363 4,101 6%
. Non-Boord gralns and oilszeds 2,490 2.290 9%,
Total Primnory Elevatar Shipmepts 6,853 6,391 7%
Terming! Operations
Vancouver 2,641 2571 3%
Thunder 8ay 1,493 1,284 16%
Share of Affilistes 715 613 16%
Total Terminal Operations 4,849 4,472 8%

Pipeline margins {gross margin per tanne excluding other revenues and ane-time items) in the Groin Handling and
Marketing segment overaged $17.72 per tonne for the year, in line with management’s expactations, but below the
$21.00 achieved in fiscol 2004, The decline is related to two key factors, Feed grins represented approximately 27.0%
of the Pool's shipments in 2005, which is unusually high and compares to approximately 10.0% in fiscal 2004, In addition,
because of significant harvest delays in the fall of 2004, the Pool was required to pay pramiums to source quality
commodities off-farm ond incur additional shipping costs due to the temporary lack of supply during that period.

EBITDA for the twelve months was $37.1 millian {$32.6 million net of one-time items) compared to $59.7 million
(345.7 million after one-time items) in fiscal 2004 with the dedline directly related to weather events. EBIT was $25.8 million
in fiscal 2005 ($24.3 million net of one-time iterns) versus $50.8 million in 2004 {$39.8 million net of cne-time items).

Agri-products Segment

The Pool's Agri-products segment had a strang year. Growing conditions in the spring supported strong sales of ol major
product lines. Sales totalied $514.2 million for the segment, up $54.3 million, or 11.8%, from the $459.9 million in soles
generated in fiscal 2004, The Pools retail operations generated sales growth of 8.4% year-over-year. Fertilizer soles grew
9.3%, seed sofes were up 13.0% and crop protection products improved by 2.7%. Crop protection products and fertilizer
representad 84.0% af the Pool's fiscal 2005 retail sales, on par with the previous yeor. Sales through WCFL were also
strong, up 24.3% year-over-yedr, reflecting both volume increases due to strong demand and higher overall pricing year-
DVEryear.

EBITDA from this segment for the year was $39.3 million and $32.0 million in 2004, Despite a highly competitive market
that pressured retail margins, strong demand and goed growing conditions, coupled with disciplined marketing
strotegies, drove the eornings improvement in 2005. Segment EBIT for the twelve months ended July 31, 2005 was
$29.3 million, up from $22.4 miflion for fiscal 2004,

Agri-food Processing Segment

Sales from the Agri-food Pracessing segment totalled $118.5 million compared to $110.6 mitlion in 2004, Sales for Prairie
Malt were up 8.0% year-over-year due to general market improvements and solid customer demand. At Can-Oat Milling,
sales were 6.8% higher than 2604, reflecting g 15.3% increase in sales volumes and @ 7.4% decrease in sales prices.
Can-0at’s sales mix changed relative to fiscal 2004, Sales of finished aat products were 72.6% of the mix last year whilg,
in 2005, they representad over 77.1% of the total soles mix. Feed sales represented only 1.3% of sales volumes in 2005
versus 4.4% in fiscal 2004,
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EBITDA from the Agri-food Processing segment for the year was 516.5 million compared to $14.3 million in 2004. Despite
competitive pressures and the Impact of the strong Canadian dollar on Can-Oat margins, strong demand for whole grain
ott products led to EBITDA improvement of 10.7% year-over-year. Prairie Malt also experienced strong earnings for the
year. Sales volumes were up 21.3% over last year as a result of a plont shutdown in 2004 to allow for repairs und
maintenance. Segment EBIT was $11.3 miilion for the twelve months anded July 31, 2005 and $9.2 million in fiscal 2004.

L1QUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

A number of developments occurred during the year ending July 31, 2005, which significantly impraved the Fool's
financial position and liquidity. These developments are summarized below and should be read in conjunction with the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. They include:

o q new three-year $250,0 million revolving asset backed loan facility which replaced an existing facility;

& $100.0 million of Senior Secured Notes that were issued with $78.7 million of the proceeds used to retire existing bank
term debt;

s the Recapitalization, which included the issuance of new common vating shares to Class A and Class 8 shareholders
and the exchange of $171.7 million (face value) of Convertible Subordinated Notes into new common veting shares;

o raceipt of net proceeds of §142.3 million fram a rights offering to common shareholders; and
e the repayment of the $100.0 million of Senior Secured Notes from the proceads of the rights offering.
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Revolving Asset Backed Loan Facility

The $250.0 million revolving asset backed foan facility is utilized at various times duting the year to finonce the Pool's
operating requirements, which primarily consist of grain and agri-products inventory purchases and financing of
accounts receivable from the CWB and other trade accounts.

There were na cash drawings on the Paol’s operating loan facilities at efther July 31, 2005 or July 31, 2004. Short-term
inyestments of $29.0 million at July 31, 2005 supplemented by draws on the revolving asset backad loan facility will be
used far purchases of nan-Board grain inventaries and for working capital as CWB receivables increase through the fall
harvest period,

The facility is glso used to past letters of credit and similar instruments relgted to operating an agri-business. These
instruments effectively reduce the amount of cash that can be drawn on the revolving asset backed loan facility,

The facility is secured by a first charge on inventary and accounts receivable and a second chormge on all other assets of
the compony. Interest is payable monthly at g floating rate of bank prime plus 1.5%.

Certain of the Poal's subsidiaries and joint ventures have their own bank operating debt and long-term debt facilities. The
compony does not guarantee, nor daes it have responsibility for, the repayment of the subsidiaries' or joint vanturas’ laans.

Selected Working Copital Changes

{in miliions) 2005 2004 Change
inventories:
Nan-Board groin % 58 § 32 s 2
Agri-products - 48 59 {13
Agri-food Procassing 11 id 3
117 105 12
Accounts receivable:
Trade octounts, nat 60 74 {24)
Canadian Wheat Board 48 71 (23
Other accounts 19 19 ~
127 164 (37)
Prepaid expenses and deposits 21 10 11
Acgounts payahle and accrued ligbilities {115) (153 38
Tatal change in selected balance sheet jtams $150 128 $ 22

The value of non-Baard grain inventories increased year-over-year as the tonnes on hand were higher than ot July 31,
2004. This increase was mitigated by a decrease in the average price per tonne.

The decrease in accounts receivable is due primarily to lower prices and volumes of grain held on behalf of the CWB and
Jower commercial grain receivables. '

An improved working capitol position allewed the Paol to place a $10.0 million security deposit with the Cunadian Grain
Commissian in lieu of a $10.0 million letter of credit and resulted in incregsed prepaid expenses and deposits.

Actounts payable ond accrued ligbilities ore lower primarily due to o $17.0 million decrease in deferred cash tickets
reflecting lower average prices per tonne as well as g reduction in the tonnes deferred for payment. This was
accompanied by a detrease in general accounts payable and accrued fiabilities of $18.4 million due primarily to reduced
agri-products inventory purchoses.
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Cash Flow Informuation

Cash flow from continuing operations was $46.7 million for the year ending July 31, 2005 compared to $58.5 million for
the year ending July 31, 2004. Reduced cash flow from Grain Handling and Marketing was partially offset by improved
results from bath Agri-products and Agri-food Processing.

Copital expenditures were $12.9 million for the year ended July 31, 2005 with upproxlmately 69.6% of the capital
spending focused on Pool assets, including $3.2 million targeted to the Vancouver port terminal operation. Capital
expenditures far fiscal 2006 are estimated to range from $25.0 to $30.0 million.

The Pool’s propartionate share of short-term investrments held by a joint venture was $50.3 million at fuly 31, 2005 as
compared to $26.0 million at July 31, 2004,

Dividends from Affiliates

The company receives regular dividends from certoin of its subsidiaries and joint ventures. The level of dividends is
dependent on o number of factors, including profitability, cash flow and capital spending programs of thase entities as
well as covenants contained within their finuncing agreements.

Dividends from joint ventures ore also dependent on the agreements with the joint venture partners. The Paol is not
dependent on these dividends to fund its capital spending programs or to meet its finuncial abligations.

Past Employmeant Benefits

The company has three defined benefit plans: Hourly Employees’ Retirement Plan (Hourly), Out of Scope Defined Benefit
Plan (0SDB) and Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan (SERP). The Hourly and the OSDB plans each have surpluses,
that when combined, tatal $70 miilion, while the SERP is unfunded and the associated licbility was 54 million ot July 31,
2005, As well, the company has a defined contribution plan for management employees hired after January 1, 200G and
unionized employees hired ofter fMay 1, 2001, covering 450 employees.

The SWP/GSU pension plon is a closed negotiated cost plan that provides defined benefits that are negotiated between
the Pool and Grain Services Union to approximately 1,400 former employess and 600 active employees, The Pool's
annual contribution in fiscal 2005 was 4.57% of members' payroll, or $1.3 million. Active members contributed the
same amaunt.

In its fiscal 2005 Second ond Third Quartsr Reports, the tompany identified an estimated potentiol deficit of $1.% millicn
on a going concern basis and gn astimated potential deficit of $28 million on wind-up as ot December 31, 2004.The plan
has assets of approximately $238 miliion,

The going concern basis of valuation assumes that the plan continues to operate until the last pensioner is paid out. The
solvency basis assumes that the plan is wound up and annuities are purchased for all pensioners at today's historically
low long-term interest rates.

The company and the GSU have met 21 times over the past 16 months in an attempt ta resolve expacted solvency deficit
issues. No solution has been found. As a result, the Pool, the GSU and the Plan Trustees sought the guidance of the Office
of Superintendent of Financial Institutions ("0SFI"), the federal pension regulatar. On S¢ptember 22, 2005, OSF exprassed
concern about the solvency of the Plon and, based on its own financial tests, OSFI restricted withdrawals by eligible
individuals to B0% of the volue of their benefit. The remaining portion would be paid over the following five-year period
ossuming the Plan does not wind-up.

On Octeber 4, 2005, all four parties met. The Plan Trustees shared o preliminary octuarial estimate at December 31, 2005,
which indicated that the Plan could have a going concern surplus of approximately $8 million and a selvency deficit of
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approximately $50 millian. The solvency estimate is based on current rates of return on long-term bonds that are 0.75%
lower than those at December 31, 2004, The octuai going concern and solvency positions will be established in a formal
actuarial valugtion as of December 31, 2005. The result of this valuation may vary materially from the abave preliminary
estimates due to differences between actual and estimated interest rotes, asset returns, and other assumptians,

Pension regulations will require any solvency deficit at Dacember 31, 2005 to be addressed over a five-year pericd
through quarterly instaliments. Assuming @ $50 million deficit, additional contributiens would be approximately
$2.8 million per quarter until termination, One or more of the foliowing actions may meet this requirement: amending
the plan structure, reducing benefits, increasing employer contributions, or increasing employse contributions, The
company has received advice from external counsel that, if the salvency deficiency is not addressed, the fikely cutcome
wilt be the termination of the Plan,

The company has met ali of its financiol ohligations in accordance with the pension plan text and collective agreement.
Thete is o risk that the company may uitimately be responsible for an increase in contributions required by the formal
valuation ot December 31, 2005. The Pool's pasition Is thot it is not responsible for any payments beyond these
negotiated with the GSU.

Readars should refer 16 Note 18 in the Hotas to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additiondal informatioa.

Off Bolance Sheet Arrangements

Under the terms of an agreement, Farm Credit Cunada provides credit to the Pool's farming customers for the purchase
of crop inputs. Please refer to the discussion under Credit Risk, Critical Accounting Estimates ~ Agri-praducts segment and
Note 15D in the Notes to the Consolidated Financiol Statemants.

Related Party Transactions

Transactions with joint ventures ond subsidiaries are eliminated in accordance with consalidation accounting principles.
There are no significant related party transactions with equity accounting or cost accounting investees.

Contractual Obligations .
(in thousands) Payments due by Pariod

Totol Less than Lyear 1-3 years 4-5years  After S years
long-term debt $ 164460 5 5461 ¢ 8,281 $ 150,614 $ 104
Operating ledses 15,535 5,403 7,097 3,005 -
Purchose obligations* 81,567 81,567 - - -
Other long-tarm obligatians 40,038 9,163 14941 5,260 10,674
Tetol contractual obligations $301,570 $1071,594 $ 30,319 $158,879 $ 10,778

* The majarity of purchase obligations ralate to commodity purchase contracts for non-Board grains and oilseeds. The ohligations
under thase contracts are largely offset by commedity soles cantracts.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS - FOURTH QUARTER

Sales and other operating revenues for the quarter were $546,7 million, up from $542.5 million realizad during last
year's faurth quarter, driven by strong Agri-preducts and Agri-fuod Processing sales that grew 15.3% and 9.0%
respectively, Grain shipments for the quarter were slightly ahead of last year despite o decline in CWB exports during the
period. Fiscal 2005 sales glso reflect significantly lower non-Board grain prices relative to the fourth quarter last year,
when non-Board commodity prices were approximately 36.0% higher.
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Consolidated earnings before interest, taxes and amortization (EBITDA) were $47.1 million, up from the $41.0 million
recorded in the fina) quarter of 2004. All three segmants posted improved results on a comparabte basis relative to last
year's final quarter. The Agri-products segment generated EBITDA of $34.4 million, up from $25.7 rilfion quarter-over-
quarter. The Grain Handling and Marketing segment earned $17.2 million in EBITDA campared to $16.3 million in 2004
fourth quarter. Excluding one-time items Included in both years' quarters, ERITDA from Grain Handling and Marketing
improved by 12.2% quarter-over-guarter. The Agri-food Processing’s EBITDA wos $3.6 million in the final three months,
which is an improvement from the $2.5 million eomed in the same period a year earlier.

Prior to interest and taxes, the Pool recorded eamings (EBIT) of $40.4 million in the quarter. During the last quarter of
2004, EBIT was $41.0 million. Excluding one-time items in ¢ach period, the Pool’s fourth quarter EBIT performance
axceeded the previous year's quarter by 17.9%.

Interest for the quarter was $9.9 million compared to $9.2 million last year. Cash interast expenses were down over 46.2%
forthe quarter to $3.4 million compared to $6.4 million in the final quarter of 2004.This improvement reflects the Pool’s
substantially lower debt levels in the final quarter of 2005,

The Pool recorded nan-cash interest of $6.5 million in the fourth quarter, which compares to $2.8 million recorded during
the same peried of 2004. The variance reflects $3.9 miliion of financing costs that would have amortized over three
years, but were written off in the fourth quarter when the Pool repaid its $100.0 million term loan. The remainder of the
non-cash interest this quorter relates to approximately $1.0 million of deferred financing costs for the osset backed
operating loan that amortizes quarterly, together with ongoing accretion of the Pool’s Senior Subordinated Notes. These
two non-cash expenses were partially offset by o decling in aceretion related to the debt component of the Pool's
Convertible Subordinated Notes, which were retired in March of 2005. Accretion is an accounting concept where
discounted debt balances ure increased on a systematic basis to eventually equal their face value at maturity.

Earnings fram continuing aperations for the fingl three months of fiscal 2005 were up 26.0% to $25.7 million from
$20.4 million edrned in the same period a year ago,

This year's fourth quarter included a $3.9 millien net recovary from discontinued operatians, which included the Pool’s
previousty held investments in hog production, aquoculture ond feed milling. The recevery primarily reflects o
$3.8 million after-tox recovery reloted to filings under CAIS, a joint federal/provincial business risk management program.
A portion of the losses incurred by this segment in prior years qualified under this program and were, tharefore,
recoverable. Last year, discontinued aperations for the quarter reflected a net recavery of $8.4 million primarily related
to corparate taxes resulting from the wind-up of that segment,

Net earnings for the quarter were $29.5 million primarily reflecting a strong spring selling season and more normal
weather conditions in the critical May to July growing period, Last year, net earnings were $28.8 million. Net earnings
from continuing operotions for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 were $23.1 million, up $10.6 million from lost year's final
quarter of $12.5 million after excluding one-tima items in both periads.

Fourth quarter cash flow from continuing operations grew 11.4% to $41.2 million from $37.0 miliion in last year’s
fourth guarter,

Operating Results ~ Fourth Quarter

The Pool's Grain Handling and Marketing segment shipped 1.9 million tonnas during the quarter, slightly ahead of
shinments in the fourth quarter of 2004. The Pool's shipping performance for the guarter ouiperformed the western
Canadian industry, which experienced o 10.5% decline in shipments of the six major grains in the final three months
of the year,
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The Pool's wholly owned port termingls received approximately 1.2 million tonnes compared to 1.0 million tonnes in the
final three months of last yeor, an 11,2% increase quarter-over-quarter, despite @ 10.3% decreose in CWB shipments
through Vancouver. Stronger volumes through the Peol's pipeline reflect higher crop production in Saskatchewan and on
increase in farmer deliveries and market share in the Pool's primary handling business.

Pipeline margins per tonne (excludes other revenue and one-time items for the guorter) were $18.40, up from the
$18.38 per tonne generated in the fourth quarter of 2004. Poor grain quality, an issue throughout the entire fiscal year,
limited margin potential and challenged export opportunities for the CWB,

This quarter’s segment EBITDA from Grain Handling and Marketing of $17.2 million included $2.% million of ane-time
iterns. The Pool recagnized approximately $2.0 million in interest revenue related to manufacturing and processing tax
credits for prior year filings as a result of a positive Revenue Canada ruling related to the processing capabilities of the
Paal's prairie grain handling network. Last year in the final quarter, the Pool generated $16.3 million, which included
$3.5 million in positive one-time items. Excluding one-time items in both periods, performance in this segment improved
by 12.2%, reflecting market share increases on the Prairies, higher grain shipments and increased volumes through the
Pool’s wholly owned port terminal facilities. Segment EBITfor the quarter was $14.3 million versus $14.7 million lost year,
0 $1.2 million improvement after excluding non-recurring items.

Sales fromn the Poal’s retail agri-products operatians, combined with its share of revenue from joint venture offiliate, WCFL,
were $320.3 million, @ 15.3% increase over 2004 fourth quarter sales of $278 million. The Pool's retail operations
performed well with a 15.1% increase in fertilizer soles, o 4.3% increase in crop protection product sales ond a 16.0%
increose in seed soles. WCFL generated sales growth of 36.4%, reflecting strong demond for fertilizer due to improved
moisture levels and an abbreviated anhydrous ammonia program in the fall thet pushed a portion of these sales into the
Pool's fourth quarter.

EBITDA from the Agri-products segment for the quarter was $34.4 millien compared to $29.7 million in the fourth quarter
last year, a 15.5% increose, The improvement reflects higher sales volumas in all of the Pool's product lines, particularly
fertilizer, higher miscellaneous revenues and a reduction in bod debt expenses, These positive business results mare than
offset the overall reduction in retail margins coused by heightened competition and lower supplier rebates. Agri-products
EBITwas $31.8 million for the quorter compared to $27.2 million for the some quarter of fiscal 2004,

Far the Agri-food Processing segment, quarterly sales increased by 9.0% to $28.8 million compared ta $26.4 million in
the last quarter of fiscal 2004. Prairie Malt's sales were an par with the previous year's quarter while Can-Oat sales grew
12.8%. Can-Oat’s sales growth was attributable to strong demand from destination customers who have begun to
respond to changing consumer buying patterns thot are driving increased demand for whole gnain oat products, This is
in ¢ontrost to 2004 when industry-wide demand softened temporarily because of the low carbohydrate diet fud that wos
populor ot the time.

EBITDA for the final quarter of fiscal 2005 for the Agri-food Processing segment reflected an 18.4% increase fram
Can-Oat. Prairie Malt's earnings improved over the previous year's quarter as a result of fower pracessing costs and lower
barley handling costs. EBITDA for the quarter totalled $3.6 million compared to $2.5 million in the same guarter last year
and EBITwas $2.4 million versus 51,3 million for the same periods.

QuUTLO0K

Bosed on the October 5, 2005 Stotistics Canuda report, western Canodion production is estimoted to be S2.5 million
tonnes, which is on par with the five-year average, Production in Saskatchewan is expected to be 29.0 million tonnas, up
from 26.1 million tonnes produced for fiscal 2005, Shauld these estimates hoid, this is positive far the Pool becouse of its
dominant markel share in Saskatchewan. In Monitoba, production is estimated to be down by 40% year-over-ysar to
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5.0 million tonnes and, in Alberta, on par at 18.2 millien tonnes, relatively unchanged from 18.4 million tonnes last yeor.
The impact of the Manitaba crop situation will not be significant for the Pool given its relatively small presence in that
province. Based on October 11, 2005 crop reports, approximately 70% to 75% of the harvast on the Prairies was complete.

Recent damp weather in certain regions of the Prairies willimpact quality, however, it is not expected to damage the crop
to the same extent as last year. A complete picture of the quality available in 2006 will be determined once harvest is
complete and samples have been tested. Grain mevement is expected to improve for the Pool in 2006 given the larger
than average crop in Sasketchewan and estimates by the CWE that they intend to export between 17 and 18 million
tonnes, a sighificant improvemnent from the 14.8 million tonnes exported in fiscal 2005, Margins too, ore expected to
improve over fiscal 2005, however, given the probobility that sore deterioration in the quality of cereal grains will oceur
this year, the Pool expacts the amount of feed grains shipped in 2006 to be higher than normal,

Recent weather conditions in the northern regions could limit fall fertilizer opplications. Overall, however, moisture
conditions on the Prairies are gead and should set the stage for strang fertilizer demaond in the spring. Weather
conditions thraughaout the crop cycle are key to the Agri-products segment since the majority of its sales and earnings
are genergted during the spring and summer manths.

Whole grain oat consumption is expected to continue to drive demand for Can-Oat products into 2006 end the Pool will
continue to gssess expansion opportunities in that business to meet its grawing customer base,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In preparing the company’s consolidated financial statements, manogement is required to make ossessments ond
estimates as ta the outcarme of events in the future. This ossessment is made using the best information availeble to
management at the time, The following is an analysis of the critical accounting estimates.

Grain Handling and Marketing Segment

The Grain Handling and Marketing segment contains @ $4.0 million allowance related to @ receivable for product
delivered o a custormer in Mexico. Due to steps taken by the company to mitigate this potential loss as at July 31, 2005,
the allowance of §4.0 million completely covers the exposure. To the sitent that the company is successful in recovering
this receivable, earnings would incraase in future years.

Agri-products Segment

Under the terms of an agreement, Farm Credit Canada provides credit for the purchase of erop inputs to producer
customers of the Pocl. Loans are stratified based on pragram years and are generally due to this finoncial institution on
Jonuary 31 of the following year. Loans under the program are secured by a general security agreement granted by the
customer covering the crop and form assets, Under the agreament, the Peol has agreed to reimburse this financial
institution in December for loan lasses in excess of 4 reserve,

At July 31, 2005, $185.0 million of producer loans were outstanding, of which $174.0 million relate to the 2005 loan
program and $11.0 million related to the 2004 loon program. The loan loss provisian, net of the total reserve, is
$7.4 million, with the net portion due within one year estimoted to be $4.1 million. This provision has been established
based on histatical results from fiscal 2003 and 2004 and the Paol's assessment of outstanding loons. The Poo! expects
that loan losses will not differ significantly from those provided for previously. Any differences will be reflected in
future years,

fn 1987, WCFL closed two facilities that manufactured phosphate and nitrate fertilizers. The jeint venture has provided
for the costs of the reclamation process. Reclamation invelves the demolition of the manufacturing facilities and
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reclamation of the phosphogypsum stacks. The Pool’s share of the estimated costs included in long-term liabilities
is $11.5 million, WCFL reviews the provisien on @ regular basis to ensure that the costs to complete the work are
appropriately reflected in its finandial statements. To the extent that the estimate for reclamation changes In the future,
the earnings of the jeint venture will ba impacted.

Agri-food Processing Segment
There are no critical accounting estimates in this seqment.

Corporate and Other

The Poal follows the liability method of tax allocation in acceunting for incame taxes. Essentially, this means that future
income tax gssets and liabilities are recorded based on the temporary differences between the ftax and accounting
balancas fer these assets and ligbilities, multiplied by the tox rate that is projected to be in effect when the differences
are expected to reverse, For the Paol, the primary temporary differences are between the book value of property, plant
and equipment compared to the tax cost of these assets as well os non-capital tax losses that are available for carry-
forward over a finite period.

The Pool records future tax assets, net of a valuation allowance, to reflect an amount the company considers is more likely
thon not to be realized. At July 31,2005, the Pool recorded a $102.7 million future tax asset, which 15 net of @ $69.4 million
valuation allowance. The amount recorded may change based on future events and circumstances.

Discontinued Operations

In fiscal 2005, the Pool recorded a $3.8 million ofter-tax recovery related to filings under CAIS, a joint federal/
provineial risk management program. The CAIS filings represent a recovery of o portion of the lasses incurred by
operations discontinued in prior yeurs, The $3.8 million after-tax recovery may ¢hange based on future events and
manogement assessments.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The only accounting palicy change in fiscal 2005 relates to the new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA)
standard regarding Asset Retirement Obiigations (ARD) (CICA 3110). The accounting for the environmiental obligations of
one of the company's affiliates was amended to reflect CICA 3110 effective August 1, 2004, This standard applies to the
recognition and measurement of legal obligations on the acquisition, construction, development or normal use of
property, plant or equipment owned by the campany or its affiliates. The standard requires the obligation be recegnized
in the financia! statements in the period incurred provided a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be determined.
As time passes, accretion is charged to earnings to recagnize the fair value of the obligation.

The impact of retroactively transitioning to the new ARO standard is as fallows:
© no impact on reclamation provision or retainad earnings at July 31, 2004; and
e negligible impact an eamings for fiscal 2005.

FINANCIAL AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Poo! is involved in the purchase, sale and processing of raw agricuttural commodities. Agricultural commodities
ore subject to price fluctuations due to numerous unpredictable factors that may create price risk. The company enters
into derivative contracts, exchange-traded futures ond options contracts, and forward purchase and soles contracts, with
the objective of managing the exposure to adverse price movements in agricuttural commodities. The daily net
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commodity position consists of inventory, related forward purchase and sales controcts, and exchange-traded futures and
options contracts.

The Pool uses these derivative contructs to minimize the effects of changes in the prices of hedgable agricultural
commedities. Exchange-traded futures and options contracts and forword purchuse and sales contracts are marked-
to-market at market values, which are hased on quoted market prices adjusted for freight and hondling costs, The
unreclized gains and losses for hedgeble commodity positions are recognized os cost of sales in the consolidated
staternents of earnings and retained earnings {deficit).

The company has practices and policies in place to limit the amount of unhedged fixed-price commodity positions the
company is allowed to maintain. On a daily basis, the company measures the combination of quantity and value at risk.

The Pool is expased to fluctuations in fareign currency exchange rates on transactions denominated in fareign currencies.

The company uses derivative financial instruments, such as foreign currency forward contracts and futures contracts, to
limit exposures to chunges in foreign currency exchange rates with respect to its recorded foreign currancy denominated
assets and ligbifities and forecast transactions. These derivative instruments are marked-to-market value, In certdin
areas of the company not related to the hundling ond marketing of grain, the company applies CICA Accounting
Guideline 13. Hedge uccounting is same period recognitian, in income, of the gains, losses, revenues and expanses
associated with a hedged item and the hedging instrument. in the remaining areas of the company, unrealized gains and
fosses on forward foreign exchange and futures contracts are marked-to-market and recognized os sales and othar
operating revenues in the consalidated statements of earnings and retained earnings (deficit).

The company has established policies that measure and review the company's exposure to foreign currency risk on o
daily besis. Further information is provided in the July 31, 2005 Notes te the Consolidated Financial $tatements ~ Note 23.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Comprehensive Income and Equity

The new CICA standards Comprehensive Income (CICA 1530) and Equity (CICA 3251) are effective for fiscal years
beginning on or ufter October 1, 2006. CICA 1530 establishes standards far reporting comprehensive income. CICA 3251
establishes standards for presentation of equity end changes in equity during the reporting period.

The impact of the adeption of these stondurds on the presentation of the company’s consolidated financial stotements
has not yet been determined,

Financial instruments - Recognition and Measurement

The new CICA standerd Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement (CICA 3855] is effective for fiscal yeors
beginning on or after October 1, 2006. CICA 3855 establishes the basis of initial measurement (foir value} and
subsequent measurement (fair value or cost) of financial instruments. 1t also specifies how financial instrument gains and
losses are to be presented.

The impact of the adoption af this standard on the consolidated results of aperations or financial position has not yat
been determined.

flon-monetary Transactions

The new CICA standard Non-menetary Transactions (CICA 3831) is effective for periads beginning on or ofter January i,
2006, The standard requires all non-monetary tronsactions to be measured at fair value unless they meet one of four
specific criterig,
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The impact of the adoption of this standard on the company's financial statements is not expected to be significant.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Paal faces certain risks, including weather, strotegic, market, financial restriction, ¢redit and foreign exchange risk
that can impact its finuncial performance, For additional information on ather general business and environmental risks,
readers should review the 2005 Annual Infermation Form.

Governance and Qversight

The Pool's Risk Management Committee {the “Committes”) is a senior management committee rasponsible for assessing
enterprise risks and implementing strategies to reduce the company's exposure. The Committee meets requiarly to assess
risks and direct risk mitigation activities. Regulor reports are provided to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Weather Risk

The Pool's most significant risk, as an agri-business company, is the weather. The effects of weather conditions on crop
quality and production valumes present significant operating and financial risk to the Pool's Grain Handling and
Marketing segment. Volumes are a key driver of eamings for the Poal's grain aperctians. Fixed costs in the Poal's primary
glevator system represent approximately 75% to 80% of its totol costs and, as o result, reduced volume and inventoty
wrns negatively impact the margin/earnings per tonne the Pool can achieve.

Crop quality is also an important factor because the majority of the higher quality grains and oilseeds move into export
position and, as a result, the Pool is able to generate morgins ot each stage of its pipeline thraugh to its port terminals.
Grains destined to domestic markets, on average, generate lower margins, particularly feed grains that require little
processing and handling. Therafore, the mix of grains and cilseeds thot the Pool manages in any given year is an
important factor in its ability to generate strong margins and earnings. The Pool offers & number of programs, including
drying and bieading opportunities to its primary customers in an attempt to mitigate some of the quality risk.

The level and mix of agri-products sales are alsa dependent on weather. Weather is a determining factor in crop selection
by producers at seeding time, the variety of seeds sown, and the amount of proprietary seed sold. Crop selection
decisions also impact the amount of fertilizer and crop protection products that are sold since certain crops require
significantly more inputs than others. Weather, throughout the growing season, will determine how much product is
opplied to the land. The Paol's Agri-products group works closely with its Grain group to gssist in anticipating producers'
seading intentions in order to manage agri-products inventories accordingly.

The Pool has attempted over the years to mitigate some of this exposure ta weather with its expansien of grain handling
and agri-products focilities into Alberta and Manitoba to reduce the impacts of localized growing conditions. The Pool has
also secured grain volume insurance for fiscal 2006 that provides a level of protection against a dramatic reduction in
grain receipts {praducers' deliveries). it is the company's abjective to develop a long-term volume insurance program as
part of its overall risk management strategies,

Market Risk

Asignificant portion of the company's sales are derived from Its Grain Handling and Marketing segment. Earnings for this
segment fluctuate based on the volume of gruin hondled and the margins earned on the purchase and sale of non-Board
grains, In the case of Board grains, the Paol earns storage and hondling tariffs from the CWB, which are established
independently of the market price for grain.
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Approximately 60% of the grain shipped by the Pool is Boord grain - wheat and barley sold by or on behalf of the CWB
- into the export and domestic markets, For these grains, the company's risks are redyced in port through the terms of
farmal legal arrangements between the Pool and the CWB. The arrangements provide for full reimbursement of the price
paid to producers for grain as wel) as certain costs incurred by the Pocl. Adverse impacts may be experienced by the Pool
where handling of Board grain results in a loss of grade or, in the case of the CWB's tendering program, if the Pool fails to
meet the requirements under the tendering contract, The Pool emplays grain grading, handling procedures and quality
testing throughaut the pipeline to help mitigate these risks.

For other non-Board grains and oilseeds purchased by the Pool, the Pool faces the risk of movement in price between the
time the grain is purchased and the time that it is sold. Financial risk management activities commonly referred to as
“hedging,” where such opportunities exist, can reduce this risk. Not all such activities, however, necessarily qualify for
hedge accounting or are dccounted for as hedges. Hedging is the placing of an oppesite position in the futures market
to that held in the cash market to reduce the risk of financial loss from an adverse price change.

The Pool hedges non-Board grain purchases and sales to the extent possible. This is accomplished by hedging purchases
and sales of nan-Board grains through ragulated futures markets, Because of the size of future contracts and certain time
constraints, it may not be passible to be fully hedged ot all times, Spacial crops are more difficutt to hedge, as no
requlated futures market exists for these commedities and the hedging instruments available lack liquidity. Where
possible, financial exposure to un-hedged purchases and sales is reduced by badk-to-back buying and selling,

The Poal employs a comprehensive Commedity Risk Management Policy, in which position limits are utilized to restrict its
exposure to changes in commodity prices. Position limits set out the amount of morket expasure the company is willing
to tolerate by commodity. The Policy defines these tolerance levels hasad on the size of the original pesition, fiquidity
in the futures market along with a number of other factors. Various outherization levels are alsy sat out in the Policy.
The Risk Management Committee, an executive management cammittee, may approve femporary changes to the
authorization levels upon the reguest of the CEO. Any such changes are reported to the Board's Audit Committee.

Credit Risk

The Pool is exposed to credit risk in connection with credit provided to its customers, including credit provided on agri-
products purchuses through a third party. Credit defaults by the Pacl's customers could have a material adverse effect on
the Poal's financial results and financial condition, The Pool shares responsibility for defaulted accounts and laan losses
with Farm Credit Canada, its partner in the FarmSmart agri-products credit prograrm. Tha allowance for doubtful accounts
urder this program averaged less than 2.0% of sales per program yeor in its first two years of eperation,

The Pool manages credit risk through adherence to its establishad Credit and Collection Policies. The Credit Policy autlines
the terms and conditions for grunting credit to customers and continuing credit soles. The Coliaction Policy provides the
framewark for collections of past due accounts, Any exceptions to the Credit and Collaction Policies require the written
approval of the Pool's executive management. These palicies cover the Pool's agri-products and commareial grain credit
facilities, as well as the credit focilities for Can-Oat Milling,

The Pool pursues ¢ payment and country risk reduction strategy for offshore customers through the use of export
financing arrangements, strategic business alliances and country risk reporting. Export financing payment arrangements
include cosh prior to unloading, cash ogainst documents ond olrtaining confirmed letters of credit. Activity is continuolly
monitored to ensure the Pool's expasure is within acceptable limits.

Foreign Exchange Risk

sSignificant portions of Can-Oat’s oot products and the Pool’s non-Board grains are sold into the export market and are
priced in American dollgrs. Con-Ogt ond the Pool hedge substantially ofl foreign currency transactions using options,
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futures currency contracts or forward exchange contracts, and through the use of natural hedges traated by offsetting
transactions. To the extent that the companies have not fully hedged this foreign exchange risk, on appreciation of the
Canodion dallar against the American doliar or other relevant currencies could have @ material adverse effect on the
Pool's financial results.

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Monagement, including tha President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have evoluuted the
effectiveness of the Poa!'s disclosure controls and procedures (s defined in Notional Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian
Securities Administrotors) os of July 31, 2005. Management has concluded that, os of July 31,2005, the Pool's disclosure
controls and procedures were adequate and effective to provide reasanable ossurance thet material information
reloting to the Pool and its consalidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report was being prepared.

EBIT AND EBITDA DATA

The EBIT and EBITDA data provided herein is intended to provide further insight with respect to the company's financial
results, including its results on @ segment-by-segment basis and to supplement its eornings (loss) as determined in
accordance with generally aceepted occounting principles {GAAP). The Pool's methed of calculating EBIT and EBITDA may
not he comparable to other companies in the industry. EBIT should, therefore, not be used ds on alternative to net
earnings (|oss) as determined in accordance with GAAP. Similarly, EBITDA should not be used as an alternative to cosh
provided by opergting activities as determined in accordance with GAAP,

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Certoin staternents in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis are farward-looking and reflect the Pool’s expectations
regarding future results of operations, financial cendition and achievements. Al statements inclurled or incorporated by
reference therein thot oddress octivities, events or developments that the compony or its management expects or
anticgipates will or may occur in the future, including such things as the company's comments in the "Outlook” section of the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the growth of its business and operations, competitive strengths, strategic initiatives,
planned capital expenditures, plans and references to future operations and results of the company and ather such matters,
are forward-lgoking statements. Such forward-looking stotements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause the actual results, performance and achievemnents of the Pool to be materially different from any
future results, performance and achievements expressed or implied by thase forward-looking statements. A number of
factors could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations, incliding weather conditions, crop production and
crop quality in Western Canada; world agricutturol commodity prices and markets; producers’ decisions regarding total
seeded acreage, crop selection, and utilization levels of farm inputs such as fertilizers and crop protection products; credit
risk; foreign exchange risk; changes in the grain handling and agri-products compatitive envirenments, including pricing
pressures; Canadian grain expart levels; changes in government pelicy and fransportation derequlation; international frade
matters; global political and economic conditions, including grain subsidy actions and tariffs of the United States and the
European Union; competitive developments in connection with the Poal’s gruin handling, agri-products, agri-food
processing businessas and cother operations; and environmental risks and unanticipeted expenditures relating to
environmenta! and other matters. Many of these risks end uncertainties are beyond the control of the company. All of the
forward-looking statements made in this annual report ond this Management’s Discussion and Analysis are qualified by
these cautionary statements and the other cautionary statements and factors contained therein, and there can be no
assurancs that the actual developments or results anticipated by the company and its management will be realized or, even
if substantially redlized, that they will have the expected consequences for, or effects on, the company.
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of Saskatchewan Wheat Poel Inc.

e hove audited the consolidated balance sheets of Saskatchewan Wheat Poal Inc. as at July 31, 2005 and July 31, 2004
and the consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings (deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's managament. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our gudits.

We candurted our qudits in accordance with Canadian generolly accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plon and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on o test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statemants. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
menagement, as well a5 evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

in our opinjon, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
company as gt July 31, 2005 and July 31, 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accapted accounting principles.

Reging, Saskatchewan M’% ¥ W KA/

September 30, 2005 Chartered Accountants

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

The management of Saskatchewan Whaat Pool Inc. is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of
the consolidated financis| statements and manogement's discussion and analysis. The ¢onsolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with Conodian generally accepted accounting principles and necessarily include
amounts based on management’s informed judgements and estimstes. Financial information contained in
management's discussion ond anaiysis is consistent with the consolidatad financial statements.

To assist management in fulfilling its respensibilities, a system of internal accounting controls has been estgblished to
provide rensonable ossurance that the consolidoted financial statements are sccurate and relicble and that assets ore
safeguarded, An internal audit funcion evaluates the effectiveness of internal controls ond reports its findings to
management and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Baard of Directars, through its Audit Cammittee, is responsible for ensuring that munagement fulfilfs its
responsibilities far financial reporting and interne! control systems, The Audit Committee is composed of independent
directors who are not emplayees of the Corporation. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the cansofidated
financiol statements ond management's discussion and analysis and recommending them to the Board of Directors for
approval. To discharge its duties, the Audit Cemmittee meets regularly with management, internal audit and Deloitte &
Touche LLP ta discuss internal cantrols, accounting and financial reporting processes, audit plans and financial matters.
The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors far its considaration in Gpproving the consolidated
financial statements far issuance to the shareholders,

Deloitte & Touche LLP is responsible for auditing the consolidated finandia) statements and expressing their opinion

thereon and their report is prasented separately. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet regularly
with, management and the Audit Committee,

g S ¥ S A

Maye M. Schmidt Wayne G. Cheeseman
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

October 12, 2005




Consolidated Balance Sheets

{in thousends)

A5 AT Iuly 31, 2005 July 33, 2004
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash 3 2,074 $ 453
Cash in trust (Note 15b) 771 1,176
Short-term investments (Note 4} 79,264 25.9?9
Accounts receivable (Note §) 127,102 164,234
Inventories {Note 6) 117,416 104,887
Prepaid expenses and deposits 20,737 9,810
Futyre income toxes [Note 22¢) 78 1,198
347,442 307,757
Investimeants (Note 7) h,437 5,051
Property, Plant and Equipment {Note 8) 251,489 266842
Other Lang-Tera Assets (Note 8} 14,822 8,219
Future Income Taxes (Note 22¢) 102,670 95,565
$ 721,860 $ 683434
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Ligbilities
Bank indettedness (Note 1Q) §  BULBO $ 13,089
Short-term barrowings (Note 11) 392 1,501
fMembers’ demand leans (Note 12} 21,476 18,691
Members' Class A Shares (Note 16) - 1,783
Accounts payable und accrued ligbilities (Note 13) 115,319 150,745
Long-term debt due within ane year (Note 14) 5461 7,893
150,708 193,702
Long-Term Debt (Note 14) 14B 928 251,930
Other Long-Term Liabilities (Note 15) 37,424 40,980
Future lncome Taxes (Note 22¢) 3,559 5,944
340,617 492,556
Sharcholders’ Equity
Share capital (Note 16) 439,485 41,287
Cantributed surplus 243 177
Converlible Subordinated Notes - equity component (Note 17) - 128,635
Retained earnings (defidt) (58,487) (15,221}
. 381,241 190,878
5 721,860 ¥ 6B3434
Commitments, contingencies and guarantees (Note 26).
On behalf of the Board of Directors
<-—§—' - /é—ﬁ
Co
Terry 8coker Gary Cotter
Director Director
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Retained Earnings (Deficit)

gg?;:é?fgﬂ ENDED July 31, 2005 July 31, 2004
Sales ond Other Operating Revenues $ 1,385,730 $ 1,407,297
Cost of Sales and Eupenses
Cost of scles and operating expenses 1,260,496 1,267,537
Selling and administrative expenses 54,704 52,419
Amartization 26,460 24,582
Provision recoveries (Note 20) - {6,216)
_ 1,341,860 1,338,322
Earnings Before Interest and Taxes 44,070 68,975
Interest expense (Note 24) 37,050 39,084
Earnings Before Corparute Taxes 7,020 29,891
Corporata tax expense (Note 22q) 3 11,951
Earnings Fram Continuing Operatians 7,017 17,940
Net Recoveries {Losses) From Discontinued Gperations (Note 19) 5072 (12,921)
Net Earnings 12,089 5012
Retained Enrnings (Deficit), Beginning of Year (19,221) {27,388)
Future income tox adjustment (Note 22¢) 15,578 22,990
Future income taxes - costs of recupitalization 4,732 -
Future income taxes - other ttems related to recapitalization {11,107} -
Share recapitnlizaton costs (Nota 16) {12,992 -
Share recapitalization inducement premium (Netes 14c and 16) {33,845) -
Accretion of equity component of Convertible Subordinated Notes (Notes 16b and 17) (13,735) (19,832}
Retoined Earnings (Deficit), End of Year 5 (58,487 $  (19,221)
Basic and Diluted Lass Per Share (Note 16h)

From Continting Operations $ {1.44) $ {0.18)

Net Earnings {Loss) : $ (1.26) 3 (1.43)
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Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows

{in thousends)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED July 31, 2005 July31,2004

Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities

Earnings from continuing operations $ 7,017 $ 17,940
Add {deduct) iterns not involving cash
Amortization 26,460 24,582
Future income tax (recavery) provision (Nete 22a) {1,503} 13,093
Pension 1,107 1,965
Non-cash intarest (Note 21) 15,361 10,496
Other items {1,783) (3,331)
Provision retaveries (Note 20) - : (6,216)
Cash flow from cantinuing aperations 46,059 58,529
Changes in non-cash warking <cpital tems
Accounts receivable 40,098 54,810
Inventories (12.441) {1,785}
Accounts payable (36476} (8,582)
Prepaid expenses and deposits ) (10,858) (1,781)
Changes in non-cosh wWorking capital - continuing aperations (13.677) 42,662
Cash from operating activities - continying operations 26,982 101,191
Cash pravided by {used in) discontinued operations 960 . (8,478)
Cash from operating activities . 27,942 92,713
Cash Frem (Used in) Financing Activities .
Proceeds of long-term deht 100,000 -
Repayment of long-term debt (185,440) (16,571
Repaymenit of short-term berrowings (1,109) {91,187}
Repayment of other long-term libilities, net (646) {2,949
Proceeds of members' demand loans 2,785 9526
ftepayment of members' Class A Shares {524) {8
increase in share capital 150,125 -
Continuance and rights offering costs (12,406} -
Refinancing casts (8,939) -
Cash used in discontinued operatigns ) - (4,5486)
Cash from (used in) financing activities 43846 (105,735)
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Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows

continued

{in thousands)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED Suly 34, 2005 July 31, 2004
Cash Fram (Used in) Investing Activities
Property, plont and equipment expenditures {12,865) (17,322)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equiprent 1,543 3,909
Divestitures - 22,135
Decrease (increasa) in cash in trust {Note 15b) 495 {689)
Decragse {increase) in investments 45 {101)
Increase in other long-term ossets {1,001) {526)
Cash used in discontinued operations - (326)
Cash {used in) from investing activities {11,873) 7,080
Increase {Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 59,915 [5,942)
Cash and Cash Equivalants, Beginning of Year 13,363 19,305
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year § 73,278 3 13,383
Cash ond cash equivalents consist of;
Cash $ 2,074 $ 453
Short-term investments 79,264 25,999
Bank indebtedness {8,060) {13,089
$ 73278 $ 13,363
Supplemental disclosure of cash paid during the perind from continuing operations:
Interest paid $ 23334 § 29,624
Income toxes patd, net 3 744 $ 725
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except as noted

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc, {the company), a corporation formerly constituted by a special act of the Saskatchewan
legisiature, and now cantinued under the Canada Business Corporations Act, is a publicly tradad, vertically integrated
Canadian agri-business. The continuance hecame effective March 31, 2005, and is described in more detail in Note 14c
and Note 16. Business operations include three reporting segments: Grain Handling and Marketing, Agri-products and
Agri-food Processing.

Weather canditions are the primary risk in the agri-business industry, Gruin volumes, grain quolity, the Jevel and mix of
crop inputs and ultimately, the financial performance of the company are highly dependent upon weather conditions
throughout the crop praduction cycle.

The company's earnings are seasonal. Sales prirarily follow crop production cycles as influenced by weather patterns
and are generally strongest in the spring when crops are seeded gnd in the fall when crops are harvested. Earnings in the
Grain Handling and Marketing segment are generally strongest in quarter one {August to October} and quarter four (May
to July) os producers defiver grain into the primary elevator system 1o reduce on-farm storage limitations and to generate
cash flow to finance seeding and harvest expenditures. Agri-products sales of crop protection products, seed ond seed
treatments, fertilizer, and farm equipment peak in the fourth quarter when crops are seeded. Sales of crop pratection
products and fertilizer also occur in the first quarter, as producers prepare land before the arrival of inclement winter
weather, in anticipotion of spring seeding, Earnings and sales in the Agri-food Processing segment are less seasonal.
Collnctively, the sales patterns of the care Grain Handling and Marketing and Agri-products segments result in the fourth
quarter traditionally being the strongest quarter for the compuny.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The cempany was subject ta a financigl reorganization with an effective date of January 31, 2003. The company accounted
for the financial rearganization by using the principles of comprehensive revaluation (fresh start accounting) as required
under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Fresh start accounting necessitated the revaluation of
all assets and fiabilities of the company at estimated fair values and the efimingtion of the company’s deficit.

An equity value of $178.6 million was calculated in order to establish the January 31, 2003 fresh start consclidated
halance sheet. The equity value reflected management’s estimate, which was based on the trading volue of the
company's Class B shares combined with an estimate of the fair value of the non-debt companent of the company's
Convertible Subordinated Notes. As g result of the rearganization and the application of fresh start accounting, the
share capital of the company was reduced by $435.4 million, including $88.9 million related to the elimination of
the company's deficit.

3, ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Principles of Consolidation

These consoliduted financial statements include the operations of the company, its controlled subsidiaries and its
proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint ventures, which are jointly controiled. All
significant inter-company balances and transections, including profits in inventories, have been eliminated,
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Nates to the Consolidated Financial Statements ~ In thousands of Canadian dallars, except as noted

The company’s principal subsidiariesioffiliates are as follows:

Subsididry/Affiliate Name Qwnership % Rccounting Method
Can-Oat Milling 100% Consglidation
Prairie Malt Limited 42 4% Proporticnate Cansolidation
Western Co-gperative Fertilizers Limited 43% Proportionate Consalidation
Pacific Gateway Terminal Limited (PGTL)* 50% Proportionate Censolidation

* subject to final regulatory approval, the cempany ond James Richardson International Limited (JRI) began this jint venture on July 11, 2005,
PGIL is a Vancouver grain terminol operation formed on the premise that the company's and JRI's existing, adjacent Vancouver grain
termingls would be jointly operated. The joint venture is operating under a temparary order from the Corpetition Bureau. PGIL is
proportionately consofidoted with eamings distributed monthiy, primerily on the basis of qualifying metric tonnes provided by each party.

b) Revenue Recognition

Revenuas from grein handling are recegnized upon shipment of grain commedities to the customer. Transactions in which
the company acts as agent for the Canadian Wheat Board (CWB) are recorded on a net basis upon performance of
sewvice, with only the amaunt of the CWB toriff included in revenue. Service revenues from grain marketing are
recognized when the services are performed. Revenues from agri-praducts include product sales revenue, which are
recognized when the customer receives the preducts, and service revenue such as equipment rentals and custom
application of product, which are recognized when the service is performed. Revenue from agri-food processing
ossociated with the sale of value-added food processing products is recognized upon shipment to the customer. Other
agri-feod processing revenues are recognized when services are performed.

c} Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, short-term investments and bank indebtedness. Bank indebtedness consists
primarily of current outstanding cash tickets and cheques, All components are fiquid with maturity of less than three
menths. Funids en depasit within joint ventures may not be immedigtely availoble to the company.

d} Inventories

Grain inventorias in the Grain Handling and Marketing segment include both hedgabie and non-hedgable cammodities.
Hedgable grain inventories are valued on the basis of <lasing market quotations less freight and handling casts and also
refiect goins and losses on open grain purchase and sale contracts. Non-hedgable grain inventories are valued at the
lower of cost and net realizable volue. Agri-products and other inventories which consist of raw materials, work in
progress and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

g} Investments

The company accounts for its investments in affiliated companies aver which it has significant influence, using the equity
basis of accounting, whereby the investments are initiolly recorded at cost, and subsequently adjusted te recognize the
company's share of earnings or losses of the investee companies and reduced by dividends received. The company's non-
controlling interest in Prince Rupert Grain Terminal is recorded at a notingl amount. Short-term investments are
recorded at the lower of cost and market. Other investments are recarded at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financiel Statements - In thousands of Canadion dollars, except as nated

f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Amortization

As a result of the financigl rearganization as described in Note 2, property, plont and equipment was adjusted to fair
value. Additions to property, plant and equipment are recorded ot cost, which includes interest costs incurred on
canstruction of mojor new facilities prior to the facilities becoming available far operation, tess amortizgtion. The
company reviews the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment whenever there is a change in circumstance
thot suggests the camying value may not be recoverable - any resulting write-downs are charged to earnings.
Amortization is provided for property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives using primarily the
straight-line method.

The rates used are as follows:
Sites, trackage and paving 0-13%

Buildings 3-20%
Machinery and equipment S -50%
Vehidles 10-30%

g) Corporate Income Taxes

The campany fallaws the liability methad of tax allocation in accounting for income taxes, Under this method, future
incarne tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financiol reporting and tax
bases of assets ond labilities, and measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will he in effect when
the differences are expected ta reverse. The effect on future income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period which includes the substantively enacted date. Future income tox assets are net of
valuation allowance to reflect an amount that the company considers is more likely than not to be realized.

h) Deferred Financing Costs

Costs incurred te obtain finanzing are deferred and amortized over the term of the associated debt. Amortization is g
non-cash charge %o interest expense.,

i) Deferred Revenue

The majority of deferred revenue relates to payments from producers pursuant to grain storage licence agreements. The
deferred revenue is amartized into revenue over 4G yaars ta match the approximete life of the related grain storage asset.

j) Past Employment Benefits

The cast of defined benefit pension plans and retirment allowance benefits earned by employees is actuarielly
determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan
investment performance, salary escalation, terminations and retirement ages of plan members. For the purpose of
calevloting the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued ot fair value, Past service costs from plan
amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of employees active at
the date of amendmant. The excess of the net actuarial gain (loss) over 10% of the greater of the henefit obligation and
the fair value of plan assets is amartized over the average remaining service period of active employees. The cost of
pension benefits for defined contribution plans is charged to operations as contributions become due.
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Notes to the Consalidated Finoncial Statements - In thousonds of Canadion dollars, except as noted

k) Financial and Other Instruments

The company uses derivative financial and other instruments to manoge its exposure to market risks relating to interest
rates, commodity prices and foreign currency exchange ratas, The campany dees not use derivative financial instrurnents
for speculative trading purposes.

i) Foreign Exchange Contracts - The company enters into forward foreign exchange and futures contracts to offset and
manaege exposure to foreign currency exchange risk resulting from transactions denomingted in forsign currencies,
Certain areas of the company not related to the handling and marketing of grain follow the Hedging Relationships
guidonce of the Canodian Institute of Chartered Accountants (QJCA) Accounting Guideline 13 (AcG-13). Under hedge
accounting the gains, losses, revenues and expenses associated with ¢ hedged item and the hedging instrument are
recognized in income in the same peried. The company regularly assesses hedging transactions to ensure they are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. In the remaining areas of the company
forward foreign exchange and futures contracts are marked-to-market and unrealized gains ond losses are recognized
in incame in the period in which they oceur.

i§) Commedity Futures Contract Transoctions - The company is involved in the purchase, sgle and processing of row
agricuftural commadities. Agricultural commodities are subject to price fluctuations due to numerous unpredictable
factors that may create price risk, The company enters into derivative contracts, primarily exchonge-traded futures and
options, with the ohjective of managing exposure to adverse price movements in agricultural commedities. The unrealized
gains and losses for commiodity futures contracts are recognized in income in the period in which they occur.

1) Foreign Currency Transactions

Monetary gssets and liabilities are translated into Canadien dollars at the rate in effect ot the balonce sheet
date; non-monetary items are transloted at the rate in effect on the transoction date. Exchange gains or losses arising
from translations are recognized in income in the period in which they accur.

m) Accretion

i} Senior Subordinated Notes and Convertible Subordinated Notes - At the time of the Januory 31, 2003 restructuring,
the company recorded both the Senfor Subardinated Nates and the Convertible Subordinated Notes at their estimated
fair value. These estimated fair values represented ¢ substantial discount to the foce valugs of these Notes,

The aceretion of the Senior Subordinated Notes ond the debt component ef the Convertibie Subordinated Notes are
recorded as a non-cash charge to interest expense, whereas the accretion of the equity component of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes is recorded as a non-cash charge to retained earnings.

(i) Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO) - Accretion is recorded os on increase to the carrying amount of the ARC due to
the passage of time with an offsetting nan-cash charge to operating costs {see Note 3pi).

n) Stock-Based Compensation Plan

Stock-based options granted are recorded under the foir value based method of accounting. The compeny records an
expense over the vasting period of options granted based on the foir value methed as determined by the Black-Scholes
pricing model, and records the offsetting amounts os a credit to contributed surplus,

o) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confermity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financiol Statements - |n thousands of Canadion dallars, except us noted

These estimates are bosed on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that the company may
undertoke in the future. Management believes that the estimatas are reasonable, however, actual results could differ
from these estimates.

p) Changes in Accounting Palicies

§] Asset Retirement Obligations - Effective August 1, 2004, the compony adepted the new CICA standard regarding ARO
(CIcA 3110). This standard applies to the recognition and measurement of legal obligations on the agcquisition,
construction, development or normal use of property, plant or equipment owned by the company or its affiliates. The
standord requires the obligation be recognized in the finandal statements in the period incurred provided 4 reasonable
estimate of the fair value can be determined. As time passes, accretion is charged to earnings to recognize the fair value
of the obligation.

Under previous GAAP, a jeint venturs, which formerly manufactured phosphate and nitrate fertilizets, recorded a
reclomotion provision in 1987 as its estimata of future removal and site restoration costs, The assets reloted to this former
manufacturing operation have been retired and, therefore, are reflected at nil value on these stataments. The previously
established reclamation provision encompassed obligations related to the demelition of the monufacturing facilities and
the reclamation of the phosphogypsum stads.

The impact of retroactively transitioning to the new ARO standard is as follows:
» No impact on reclamation provision or retained earnings ot July 31, 2004,
e Negligible impact on earnings for both fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004,

ii} Hedging Relationships - Effective August 1, 2003, in certain areas of the arganization not relatad te the handling and
marketing of grain, the company commencad application of the CICA AcG-13. The guideline deals with identification,
designation, documentation and effectiveness of hedging relationships for the purpose of applying badge accounting.
Hedge accounting is the some period recagnition, in income, of the gains, losses, revenues and expenses assaciated with
o hedged item and the hedging instrument. Hedge accounting may be applied when ail ef the following ¢riteria are met
at inception of the hedge:

e The entity identifies the risk exposure heing hedged and designates that hedge accounting will be applied to the
hedging relationship.

@ The entity has prepared documentation of its risk management objective and strategy for the hedging relationship,
the hedging item, the term of the hedge and the method for assessing the effectiveness of the hedge. There dlso
heeds to be a methad for racognizing in income the goins and losses associated with the hedged items.

e The entity has reasonable ossurance that the hedge will be effective. The effectiveness of the hedge should be
measurable and assessed regularly.

The effect of adopting hedge accounting to the fiscal 2004 annual finand] statements is negligible. For hedgoble grain
inventories, the company continues to follow the principles outlined in Note 3d.

4, SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

2005 2004
Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc. $ 29,000 g -
Subsidiaries ond proportionate shore of joint veniures 50,264 25999
T 3 79,264 S 25,999
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Notes to the Cansolidated Financial Statements - in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as noted

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

_ 2005 2008
Trade accounts, net $ 59,553 § 74,449
Canadian Wheat Board 47,994 71,266
Other accounts 16,555 18,519
$ 127,102 3 164,234
6. INVENTORIES
_____ 2005 2004
Grain % 58,485 § 31,997
Agri-products 47,591 59,440
Agri-foad Processing 11,340 13,450
$117,416 5104,887
7. INVESTMENTS
2005 2004
Investrents in significuntly influenced companies - equity method 5 2148 § 2157
Other long-term investments - ¢ost method " 3289 2,894
§ 5,437 $ 5051
8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2005 2004
Aceymuloted Accumulated
2008 Amartization 2004 Amortization
Sites, trackage and paving $ 9078 $ 979 $ 8786 5 487
Buildings 115,580 11,250 113,314 6,061
fachinery and equipment 181,632 48,353 167,515 28,448
Vehicles 113 83 120 48
Construction in progress 4,851 - 12751 —_
312,154 $ 60,665 302,486 $ 35,644
Accumulated amortization (A0,665) (35,644)
Net book value $ 251,489 $ 265,842

Amartizetion of property, plant ond equipment related to continuing aperations for the year ended July 31, 2005 is

$26.1 million {2004 - $24.5 million).

9. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

2005 2004
feccumulated Accumuiated
2005 Amortization 2004 Amortization
Deferred pension assets 5 5260 $ - $ 5331 53 -
Deferred financing costs 4,659 518 - -
Other 5,973 552 3,070 182
15,892 $ 1,070 9,401 $ 182

Accumulated amortization _ {1,070) 8y

Net book value % 14,822 $ 8,219
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Amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.5 million (2004 - nil) is included in interest expense. Amortization of other
assets of $0.4 milfion (2004 - $0.1 million) is included in amortization expense.

10. BANK INDEBTEDNESS

L 2003 2004
Sqskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc. $ 6,030 $ 10,844
Subsidiaries and proportionate shara of jeint venturas 2,030 2,245
i 8,060 § 13,089

11, SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
‘ _ 2005 2004
Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc. S - $ -
Subsidiaries and proportionate share of joint ventures 392 1501
3 392 3 1501

The company, as part of a refinancing initiative, replaced its asset backed revalving credit facility on March 11, 2005, with
a new three-year $250 million senior secured asset backed revolving loan with a syndicate of financial institutions. The
facility matures in March 2008 and is secured by o first charge on inventory and accounts receivable and a second charge
on all other assets of the company. Interest is payable monthly at prime plus 1.5%.

At July 31, 2008, the company had outstanding letters of credit and similar instruments of $31.1 million reloted to
operating an agri-husiness (2004 - $30.6 million). These instruments effectively reduce the amount of cash that can be
drawn on the revalving credit facility.

At July 31, 2005, availability under the osset backed revolving loan facility was $42.2 million (2004 - $68.0 million).

Subsidiaries’ and propartionate share of joint ventures’ short-term borrowings censist of bank operating loans, which are
secured by inventories, accaunts receivable and property, plant and equipment. The company does not guarantee, nor
does it have responsibility for, the repayment of the subsidiaries' or joint ventures' loans.

12. MEMBERS' DEMAND LOANS

Members' demand leans are funds loaned te the company by nen-institutional investors and employees. At
July 31,2005, the loans bear interest at 3.6% {2004 - 5.25%).

The |oans are secured by a second ranking charge against the company's assets which are suburdinate to the revolving
credit facility and rank equally with the Senior Subordinated Notes and the members' term loans.

13, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIARILITIES

2005 S—L
Trade accounts payable § 39,022 § 49,243
Trade deferrad cash ticlets 24,277 41,318
Accrued liabilities 38,315 46,966
Other accounts payable N 13708 13218
% 115,319 £ 150,745

At July 31, 2005, certain trade payables and related inventary with agri-products suppliers wete subject te a purchase
money security interest in the aggregate of $4.6 million {2004 - $4.8 million).

78



1172472000 16:38 FAX 3085695133 SWP-LEGAL

Notes o the Consolidated Financial Statements - In thousands of Canadion daflars, except o$ noted

14. LONG-TERM DEBT

@oar

2005 2004
Weighted Weighted
Average 2005 Averuge 2004
Interest Carrying Intarest Carrying

o Rote® Value Rate? Value
Senior Secured 8ank Term Loan {g) 5 - 8.0% $ 80251
Seniar Subordinated Notes (b) 8.0% 139,929 B.0% 132,188
Convertible Subardinated Notes

- debt component {¢) - 9.0% 27,735
Members' term loans 7.2% 4,823 74% 4,300
____Sub-totgl 144,752 244,474
Subsidiaries’ and proportionate share

of joint ventures' debt;

Secured 4.3% 9,637 4.8% 13,743

Unsecured - interest free - 1,606
___Subtotal 9,637 15,349
Tota! consoliduted long-term debt 154,389 259,823
Less portian due within one year:

Senior Secured Bank Term Loan (o) - 1521

Senior Subordinated Notes (b) - -

Members' term loans 1,354 659

Subsidiories’ and proportionats share
_._ofjoint ventures' debt 4,107 5,713
Long-term debt due within cng year 5,461 7,893
Totol long-term debt $ 148,928 $ 251,930

* Waighted average interast rates are bused on the foce valug of the debt instrument,

o) Senigr Secured Bonk Term Loan

& The campany, as part of a refinancing initiative, replaced its Senior Secured Bank Term Loan, effective March 14, 2005,
with $100 million of Floatirg Rate Senior Secured Extendible Notes (the “Notes”) with an institutional investor, These
Notes were secured by a first charge an the company's fixed assets and a second charge an working capital. Interest
was payable monthly at LBOR plus 6.5%. On June 7, 2005, the company prepaid the Notes without penalty.

b) Senior Subordingted Notes

e At the time of the Jonuary 31, 2003 restyucturing, the Senior Subordinated Notes were recorded at estimated fair
value. The company is accreting up to their $150.0 million face velue through monthly present value adjustments
{sccretion) to the Senior Subardinated Notes with @ corresponding non-cash charge to increcse interest expense.

e Interest is payable manthly into a trust and distributed quorterly. Prior to July 31, 2005, interest is at 8% of the face
value, thereafter, interest is at 12%. The face value at July 31, 2008 is $150.0 million {2004 - £150.0 million).

e No principal payments are required until maturity on Nevember 29, 2008,
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» The compony may redeem the Notes prior to maturity at the following premiums of the principal amaunt then
outstanding: 104% from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2008; 102% from January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006;
and 101% from January 1, 2007 1o November 28, 2008,

e Secured by a second ranking charge against the company's assets - subordingte to the revolving credit facility and
ranking equally with the members' demand loans and members' term logns,

e The fair morket value of Senior Subordinated Netes at July 31, 2005 was approximately $156.4 milfion bosed upon the
queted morket price (2004 - $151.5 million),

¢) Convertible Subordinated Notes (see Note 16)

The Convertible Subordingtad Notes ware convertad on March 31, 2005 into a new class of common shares. The
remainder of the points in this section pravide some of the histarical background applicable to the comparative
Convertible Subordinated Notes information in these statements,

o At the time of the January 31, 2003 restructuring, the company separated the Convertible Subardinated Notes into their
debt ond equity components, occording to their substance. The debt component was estimated ot the present value of the
cash interest expected to be paid. The company was accreting up to that initial astimate through menthly present value
adjustments {accretion) to the Convertible Subordinated Notes with ¢ corresponding charge to increase interest expense.

The eguity component was being occreted such that the value as of November 29, 2008, (the day before the company’s:

conwersion right} would reflect the face value and accrued interest not paid in cash of the narnaining, unconverted,
Convertible Subordinated Notes, This accretion was recorded as a reduction of retained earnings (deficit),

» As part of the March 31, 2005 canversion, the former Class B Shares were consolidated at a rate of ane new common
share for 20 Class 8 Shares and the Convertible Subordinated Noteholders agreed to exchange their Notes at the rate
of 131.58 new comman shares per $1,000 of principal. Prior to March 31, 2005, the Convertible Subordinated Notes
werg canvertible by the holder into Class B non-voting shares of the company at the pre 1:20 share cansolidation rate
of approximately 2,227.2 shares (111.36 shares post conversion) per $1,000 of Note principal ot any time prier to
November 30,2008, Under the new cenversion rate, the Convertible Subordinated Noteholders incrementaily raceived
opproximately 3.5 million more shares than under the former conversion rate. These incremental shares were volued
at $33.8 million and are reflected as part of the share conversion cutlined in Note 16, as wel! as an offsetting charge
to retained earnings.

o Acontinuity of the debt component of the Convertible Subordinated Notes is:

Canvertible Subordinated Notes - deht component - July 31, 2003 $ 23,938
Inferest cecretion 3,800
Convertible Subordinated Notes - debt component - July 31, 2004 ‘ 27,735
Interest dccretion 2,863
Convertible Subordinated Netes - debt component - March 31, 2005 30,598
Refinance conversion {30,598}
Convertible Subordinoted Notes — debt component - July 31, 2005 3 -

d) Other

o The salfe of certain colieteral for proceeds in excess of $10 million would necessitate a portial redemptian of the Senior
Subardinoted Notes until redeemed in fulf.

e Members' term loans are secured and consist of one-yaar to seven-year loans with non-institutional investors and
employees. Interest is payable semi-onnually at intarest rates which vary from 4.20% to 9.0%. The fair market velue
of members' term loans at July 31, 2005 was approximately $5.1 million (2004 - $4.4 millian).
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Notes to the Consalidated Financial Statements - In thousangs of Canadion dollars, except s noted

o The subsidiories” and the proportionate share of joint ventures' debts bear interest ot fixed and variable rates, The
debts moture in years 2006 to 2007. The debts are secured by certain assets and some are subject to meeting certain
covenants, The fair market value at July 31, 2005 of subsidiaries’ and the propartionate share of joint ventures’ debts
wos appraximately $9.6 million (2004 - $15.2 million). '

o The compuny does nat guarantea nor does it have responsibility for the repayment of the subsidiaries or jeint
venturgs' debts.

e The maturities of lang-term debt are as follows:
Subsidiaries and

Saskatchewan Propartiongte Share
. Wheat Pool Inc. of Jaint Ventures - Yota|
2006 5 1354 $ 4107 $ 5461
2007 2,498 5,530 8,028
2008 253 - 253
2009 150,173 - 150,173
20610 441 - 441
Subsequent Years 104 - 104
$ 154,823 $ 9,637 $ 164,460
15. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABIUTIES
- 2005 2004
Asset retirament obligations (o) $ 11,477 S 12,645
Deferred revenue ¢,182 10,365
Retirement alfowances 5,680 5,398
Loan lass provision (b) 4,931 4,952
Pension 3,734 3,732
Other 2,420 3,888
S 37424 $ 40,980

o) In 1987, a joint venture which manufactured phasphate and nitrote fertilizers closed two of its facilities. The osset
retirement obligations represents the company's proportionate share of the best estimate by management of the joint
venture of the legal ahligations that it would incur during the reclamation process. Reclamation involves the demolition
of the manufacturing facilities and the reclamation of the phosphogypsum stacks. Uncertointy exists regarding the
estimation of future decommissioning and reclamation costs.

AtJuly 31,2005, the company's proportionate share of the undiscounted cash flow required to settle the asset retirement
obligations is approximately $14.9 million, which is éxpected to be settled over the 2006 through 2014 period. The credit
pdjusted risk-free rates ot which the estimated cash flows have been discounted range from 4,00% to 5.45%.

b) Under the terms of on agreement, a financial institution provides credit for the purchase of crop inputs to producer
customers of the company. Loans are stratified based on program years. Producer loans are generally due to this financial
institution on January 31 following the program year. Loans under the program are secured by o general security
agreement granted by the customer covering the crop and farm assets.

The company calects joan payments from producer custamers in trust far this financial institution ond forwards
collections the next business day.
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Under the agreement, the campany has agreed to reimburse this financial institution for loan losses in excess of a reserve
(see the table below). Reimbursement amounts are payable to this finandial institution at the end of December or eleven
months following the due date of the producers’ loan. When the company remits payments for delinquent accounts to
the finoncial institution with respect to this program, the delinquant account is assigned to the company and the
company is then to collect the omounts payable by the customer. Subsequent collections of these delinquent accounts
ore allocated to the company and the financial institution in accardance with each party's pro-rated share of the
collection proceeds. The company expects that loan losses will not differ significantly from those provided for in these
finuncial stotements,

July 31, 2005 July 31, 2004

Producer Company Producer Producer

Due Date - Reimbursement Balunce Balonce

. January 31 Date -~ December 31 Outstanding Qutstanding

2003 loan program 2004 2004 s - $ 4,652
2004 loan progrom 2005 2005 10,980 157,940
2005 loan program 2006 2006 174,002 -

5184982 S 162,592

. July 31, 2005 July 31, 2004
Tetal company provision, net of loan {oss share $ 7401 3 8312
Portion due within one year (4,082) (3,810)
Long-term portion, net of loan loss share $ 3319 5 4502

16. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized

On February 7, 2005, the company's Board approved a proposed recapitalization of s Class A Voting Shares, Class B
Non-veting Shares and Convertible Subordinated Notes and a subsequent, rights offering to all Common Shareholders.
On February 21, 2005, the required majority of delegotes, representing the foriner Class A Shareholders, approved
the company's recapitalization plan, Through separate meetings on March 23, 2005, bath the former Class 8
Non-voting Shareholders and Convertible Subardinated Noteholders approved the recapitalization plan. The
recapitalization plan included:

e The continuance of the company as g business corporation under the Canada Business Corporations Act involving the
consofidation of the Class A Voting Shares and the Class 8 Non-voting Shares of the company inte ane new closs of
common shares, The Class A Shareholders were entitled to receive 3.62 new common shares, or $25 in cash, while the
Class B Shoreholders recaived one new common share for evary 20 Class 8 Non-voting Shares they held.

o The early conversion of the company's Cenvertible Subordinated Notes into the new class of cammon shares. The
Convertible Subordinated Notes were exchanged for 131.58 comman shares per $1,000 of principol,

On April 22, 2005, ofter the continuance, 35,071,559 rights were issued to the holders of all common shares of record.
The rights were issued for nil cansideration with an expiration date of May 24, 2005. Each right entitled the holder the
right to purchase one and one-third edditional common shares in the company at the discounted subscription price of
$3.21 per share.

On May 27, 2005, the company issued 46,762,078 common shares under the rights offering, generating gross procseds
of approximately $150.1 million. The company has repaid in full the $100 million of Floating Rate Senior Secured
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